

Meeting:	Solid Waste Alternatives Advisory Committee (SWAAC)
Date:	Wednesday, December 13, 2017
Time:	10:00 a.m. to Noon
Place:	Metro, Council Chambers

The purpose of the Solid Waste Alternatives Advisory Committee is to develop policy options that, if implemented, would serve the public interest by reducing the amount and toxicity of waste generated and disposed, or enhancing the effectiveness and sustainability of the system through which the region's solid waste is managed.

10:00 AM	1.		CALL TO ORDER AND DECLARATION OF A QUORUM	Matt Korot, Chair
10:02 AM	2.		COMMENTS FROM THE CHAIR AND SWAAC MEMBERS	
10:07 AM	3.	**	CONSIDERATION OF SWAAC MINUTES FOR OCT. 11, 2017	
10:10 AM	4.	**	 RECOMMENDATIONS ON METRO'S SOLID WASTE FEE AND TAX EXEMPTION POLICIES <i>Purpose</i>: To discuss the policy recommendations from Metro's consultant and SWAAC's Solid Waste Fee & Tax Exemption Policy Evaluation subcommittee To solicit SWAAC's input on the recommendations to be conveyed to the Metro Council <i>Outcomes</i>: Understanding of the consultant and subcommittee recommendations 	Tim Collier, Metro Warren Johnson, Metro
			SWAAC input on recommendationsUnderstanding of next steps	
11:00 AM	5.		CITIZEN COMMUNICATIONS	
11:15 AM	6.		PREVIEW OF THE NEXT MEETING'S AGENDA AND FINAL COMMENTS	Matt Korot, Chair
	7.		ADJOURN	
*	Mat	erial a	vailable on the Metro website.	

** Material will be distributed in advance of the meeting.

Material will be distributed at the meeting.

Upcoming SWAAC Meetings:

- Wednesday, Jan. 10, 2018 from 10 a.m. to 12 p.m. (noon) at the Metro Regional Center
- Wednesday, Feb. 14, 2018 from 10 a.m. to 12 p.m. (noon) at the Metro Regional Center

For agenda and schedule information, call Matt Korot at 503-797-1760, e-mail: <u>matt.korot@oregonmetro.gov</u>. To check on closure or cancellations during inclement weather please call 503-797-1700.

Metro's nondiscrimination notice

Metro respects civil rights. Metro fully complies with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 that bans discrimination on the basis of race, color or national origin. For more information on Metro's civil rights program, or to obtain a Title VI complaint form, visit <u>www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights</u> or call 503-797-1536.

Metro provides services or accommodations upon request to persons with disabilities and people who need an interpreter at public meetings. All Metro meetings are wheelchair accessible. If you need a sign language interpreter, communication aid or language assistance, call 503-797-1536 or TDD/TTY 503-797-1804 (8 a.m. to 5 p.m. weekdays) 7 business days in advance of the meeting to accommodate your request. For up-to-date public transportation information, visit TriMet's website at <u>www.trimet.org</u>.



Meeting:Solid Waste Alternatives Advisory Committee (SWAAC)Date/time:10:00 a.m.-noon, Wednesday, October11, 2017Place:Metro Regional Center, council chamber

Members in Attendance:

Mike Leichner, Pride Disposal Bruce Walker, City of Portland Theresa Koppang, Washington County Peter Brandom, City of Hillsboro Rick Winterhalter, Clackamas County Audrey O'Brien, Oregon DEQ Reba Crocker, City of Milwaukie Adrienne Welsh, Recycling Advocates Matt Korot, Metro

Members Absent:

Alando Simpson, City of Roses Disposal/Recycling Mark Ottenad, City of Wilsonville Paul Downey, City of Forest Grove Keith Ristau, Far West Recycling

1. Call to Order and Declaration of a Quorum

Matt Korot brought the meeting to order and declared a quorum.

2. Comments from the Chair and SWAAC Members

Mr. Korot reviewed the meeting agenda and how citizen communications would be structured.

Mr. Korot offered comments in regard to the current recycling market crisis. He commended the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) for taking a leadership role in responding to the crisis. The announcement by China placing further restrictions on what will be accepted into their recycled plastic and mixed paper markets may have a significant impact on Oregon recycling programs. He asked Audrey O'Brien if she wanted to add any comments.

Ms. O'Brien noted she wanted to alert all local governments and industry members of the top level messages DEQ is pushing out:

- The China actions have created worldwide disruptions in the recycling markets. DEQ and others in the recycling system will work to identify long-term solutions to stabilize and strengthen domestic markets.
- In the short-term, DEQ is working to formalize the procedure for allowing certain recyclables to be disposed. She hopes that the process will be in place next week. DEQ will ask for information on the conditions creating the need for disposal, and the types and amounts of recycling materials, and encourage communication with local governments, Metro and wasteshed representatives. The DEQ website will be updated as soon as information is available.

Bruce Walker applauded DEQ for convening the stakeholder groups and acknowledged that this is one of the toughest obstacles facing the solid waste industry in decades. Mr. Walker encouraged everyone at the table to continue to come together keep lines of communication open.

Theresa Koppang added her thanks to DEQ staff and how the have effectively fulfilled the role of "incident commander." She noted inquiries are coming in and wanted to stress it is her position that



no one has done anything wrong; this problem is bigger than this one region. She asked for clarification from Ms. O'Brien on the hard and soft deadlines DEQ is setting.

Ms. O'Brien thanked all for their kind words and stressed that this has been a full team effort. She noted DEQ hopes to have a list of brokers that are purchasing recycling materials by the third week of October. She reiterated the broad waiver to allow disposal of recycling on a short-term basis will roll out next week and that DEQ is dealing with individual requests as they come in.

3. Eagle Creek Fire Response: Upcoming after-action workshop

Daniel Nibouar from Metro shared details regarding an upcoming after-action workshop. Mr. Nibouar shared that because of the events in 2017 that resulted in extended closures of I-84 (winter weather, Eagle Creek Fire) and disruption to the solid waste system, Metro decided to convene an after-action workshop to discuss the responses and develop plans should future incidents arise. He shared that the event, to take place on Oct. 20, 2017 is open to everyone. Mr. Nibouar stressed the goals will be to increase communications with those affected by the two incidents and develop strategies to lessen impacts in future incidents. He noted that RSVPs are requested by Oct. 17th and more information was available on a flier on the entry table.

Rick Winterhalter asked if the discussion would cover wastewater and other utilities or just the solid waste system. Mr. Nibouar replied that the workshop will be focused on solid waste operations only.

4. Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemptions Subcommittee: Meeting 5 Update

Mr. Winterhalter reminded members of the purpose of the SWAAC Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemptions subcommittee and its role in making recommendations to SWAAC. He shared that the subcommittee had its final meeting on Tuesday, Oct. 10. Tim Collier called the question for the recommendation of the subcommittee to SWAAC and industry members requested a short break before stating their positions. Mr. Winterhalter stated that after looking at the options and the consultant report, the subcommittee suggested the addition of keeping the status quo to the list. When Chair Collier again called the question the industry members and public parties recommended the status quo. Two local governments advocated that anything going into the landfill should be subject to fees and taxes, albeit at a reduced rate.

Mr. Winterhalter added that a more in-depth discussion will take place at the next SWAAC meeting and he encouraged members to read the provided consultant report and determine what their input to the Metro Council would be.

Mr. Korot stated he would again send out links for the consultant's (RSS) report and asked members to at a minimum read the executive summary. He reminded the key consideration for members to consider is what best serves the public good.

5. Commercial Food Scraps Recovery policy

Pam Peck provided an overview of the proposed Food Scraps Recovery policy that will go to the Metro Council later this fall. She stated she is presenting to SWAAC with the hopes of gathering additional comments on both the policy and cost mitigation options. Ms. Peck noted the policy code and administrative rules are currently in a public comment period that will end on Oct. 20, 2017.

Ms. Peck reminded the committee that the Regional Solid Waste Management Plan identifies food



waste as a priority for recovery from the waste stream. In addition, in 2011, SWAAC recommended Metro move forward with a required recovery policy if certain milestones weren't met within a couple of years. As voluntary participation in the food scraps recovery program has not yielded the desired results, Metro Council directed the team to begin crafting a policy. She noted that waste prevention and food donation are still a high priority but there will always be food unfit for donation.

Ms. Peck proceeded to summarize the draft policy. She noted that there are 3,000 businesses that will be affected by the policy and 1,300 currently participate voluntarily. The policy elements include local governments implementing requirements and meeting performance standards:

- Send notice to affected businesses
- Require businesses to separate food from other waste
- Provide educational materials and program set-up assistance
- Ensure collection service is provided
- Provide enforcement, case-by-case waivers and reporting

Metro will continue to provide funding support for food scraps recovery programs. Ms. Peck added that flexibility is built in to the program with both waivers and the phase-in approach. She noted it was an important detail to make clear that property managers would not be allowed to prevent businesses from access to this service.

Ms. Peck then outlined the policy implementation phases:

- Local government policy adoption (July 2018)
- Phase 1 begins (March 2019)
- Phase 2 begins (March 2020)
- Phase 3 begins (Sept. 2021)

Ms. Peck provided an overview of the stakeholder outreach the policy team conducted. The team conducted surveys, met with businesses and business councils, attended city council meetings, and engaged in discussions with food rescue groups. All of this feedback was taken into consideration with the policy and administrative rules that are currently open for public comment. Ms. Peck shared that public comments thus far have shown support for a required program, highlighted that businesses need tools to help them succeed and keep costs down, and the local elected officials are seeking insurance that costs of the program are contained. The Oregon Restaurant and Lodging Association (ORLA) is moving forward in partnership with Metro on the policy, but has stated they are opposed to any mandatory requirements.

Michael Leichner inquired as to how a business can determine which phase they fall in to? Ms. Peck responded that there is a food estimator guide based on number of employees that restaurants can use to determine when they need to be in compliance. She also noted that if questions come up regarding the phase alignment, local governments will be relied on for technical assistance in determining the phase and case-by-case discretion can be utilized.

Ms. Peck then asked Dan Blue to go over some of the cost mitigation options that have been identified. Mr. Blue noted that the impact on rates cannot be predicted for sure as local governments have different rate setting models. What is known is that an additional service will increase costs and this does need to be mitigated. The average cost to run a truck is \$95 per hour



and the current tip fee for food scraps is \$66 per ton. In the current system the local governments have influence over the collection costs and Metro can influence the disposal cost.

Mr. Blue explained that what businesses pay is a combination of the collection costs and a tip fee. Per previous studies, collection is efficient if a business can separate 50 percent or more of their food scraps and haulers can make seven stops per hour. He then walked the committee through an illustration of current garbage rates in four jurisdictions and compared them to garbage plus food scraps collection rates in those jurisdictions to show how the latter rates varied based on the ratesetting approach used.

Mr. Leichner commented that savings for some customers will be absorbed and others passed on to individuals so it is difficult to accurately identify the cost changes.

Mr. Winterhalter noted the assumption of rate may not be completely accurate as displayed on the table. His hope was to see a delta in the disposal cost to make an accurate cost mitigation recommendation. Theresa Koppang would also challenge the assumption of change and would like to see a chart with flat-line and/or different assumptions.

Mr. Blue shared cost mitigation actions that local governments could consider:

- Bundling services so all customers pay for food scraps collection, as is done with recycling
- Provide customer education & assistance
 - Portland: inform customers of reduced food scraps tip fee to ensure they benefit
- Continue rate setting best practices (avoided food scrap disposal costs benefit commercial sector in rate setting) withannual rate reviews
- Consider collection and route efficiency
 - Consider phased implementation to improve collection efficiency and reduce costs
 - Work with haulers to address space constraints, collection frequency

Mr. Brandom asked if these options accounted for costs incurred for delivery to the Metro Central transfer station. Ms. Peck responded that these haulers are already delivering to Metro Central and Mr. Korot added that the difference in distance for delivery is where the proposed waiver can come in. Mr. Brandom stated that he would have preferred this conversation had happened several months ago. He feels that the city has requested this information and that getting it now is not helpful with only nine days remaining in the public comment period.

Mr. Blue clarified if Mr. Brandom was referring to the proposed policy or cost mitigation aspects? Mr. Brandom responded that all of these aspects should have been discussed sooner and there is no mention of non-monetary costs and benefits (such as greenhouse gases).

Mr. Winterhalter commented that this explanation of rates does not display savings to individual businesses, but to the overall system. He cautioned sharing these numbers and would suggest more conservative potential savings.

Mr. Blue shared the cost mitigation options available to Metro as well:

- Support local governments with program rollout via increased funding for technical assistance, program materials, containers
- Support expanded use of annual rate review process across the region by local governments
- Buy down food scraps tip fee by spreading costs across all garbage customers



- Establish distance waivers for some local governments to address transfer costs
- Require processor to accept plastic bags

Reba Crocker asked how the acceptance of plastic bags is a public benefit. Mr. Walker shared that Portland has worked with businesses regarding this topic and compostable bags are expensive. They are ultimately disposed of and the cost to buy them does not appear on any cost sheet. They are an added burden to the businesses and allowing plastic bags is one step to address overall business costs. Ms. Crocker clarified "plastic bags" does not refer to shopping bags but rather plastic garbage bags and Mr. Walker confirmed this.

Ms. O'Brien commented the focus needs to be on decreasing contamination and creating an incentive process to handle contamination, or create an assistance program to remove a specific contamination continually appearing in the feedstock.

Mr. Brandom shared that cleaning containers or carts is a known problem that is still trying to be figured out. Allowing bags may help with that problem if they can be adequately sorted or screened out.

Mr. Walker shared that he supports a tip fee buy down and agrees with the need to inform customers as the plans develop and that adjustments will be made as the policy adapts to real world concerns.

Mr. Blue stated that the Metro council will decide on the following questions related to the food scraps tip fee:

- Buy down or not?
- How much to buy down?
- For how long?
- Program evaluation/impact assessments?
- Additional technical assistance funding for local governments

Ms. Peck updated the committee on the RFP process for the food scraps processor and stated the proposals are still under review. Interviews will be conducted with the top two firms and once the top proposal is identified, more structure will form regarding the transfer system and location. She provided a final review of the time for the policy including when the Metro council will render a decisions. She reminded the committee the comment period for the ordinance and administrative rules is still open and once that closes, changes will be incorporated where deemed necessary. She asked for any comments or questions from the SWAAC committee on the policy and mitigation options.

Mr. Brandom stated he fully supports removal of food waste from the landfills and noted that Hillsboro has been very effective with their program. He is appreciative of the incentives from Metro to help get their program running but reiterated his belief that the financial analysis is coming too late in the process. He feels the policy is premature as costs and benefits have not been fully vetted. Mr. Brandom also noted he believes the implementation plan asked for is unnecessary and the enforcement of the ordinance should be left to local governments. At the moment there is a lack of transfer capacity for the program and feels he cannot give a fully formed response until the questions around the distance waiver are resolved. Mr. Brandom feels the onus on local



governments to request an exemption is misplaced and the local governments should be allowed to determine who gets a waiver.

Mr. Korot noted that Hillsboro has seen great success, but the regional benchmarks are not improving much.

Mr. Brandom also noted he objects to Metro withholding funding for programs for counties or cities that do not comply with this ordinance.

Ms. Koppang offered thanks to Metro for the extensive outreach conducted as part of this policy's formation. She noted there is support from her county and is anxious to see more details of the policy as soon as they are available. She also raised questions about what happens to the system if there is an issue with the processor and cautioned Metro about trying to give too much input on rates. Ms. Koppang noted her county is comfortable with their rate-setting and once costs are established they will be more comfortable with the system.

Mr. Walker echoed support from Portland for this policy and acknowledged the heavy lift that will be involved to bring the new businesses online. He shared his team is actively working to identify those who need additional resources and outreach. Mr. Walker commented that when it comes to Metro council determining a tip fee buy-down, that needs to be for at least five years to match the phase-in timeline (two years should not be an option).

Mr. Winterhalter agreed with the buy-down timeline and stated his only concerns are in regards to the clarity of the waiver. Ms. Koppang asked what the measuring tool would be for "reasonable distance" on the waiver. Mr. Korot responded that it will be compared/comparable to the rest of the solid waste system.

Ms. O'Brien noted a concern that the buy down would not provide an incentive to move towards donation or prevention, but added she was not sure how that kind of incentive could be created. Mr. Leichner cautioned looking at the buy-down on the back end as closely as upon introduction. He wanted to ensure the phase out of the buy-down was not harmful to business owners who have committed to the policy and programs.

6. Citizen Communications

None.

7. Preview of the next meeting agenda and final comments

Mr. Korot shared that the next meeting will be on November 8.

Mr. Walker announced the AOR Forum was open for registrations and was filling fast. He encouraged those in the room to register soon.

Memo



Date:	November 28, 2017
То:	Solid Waste Alternatives Advisory Committee (SWAAC)
From:	Tim Collier, Chair – Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policy Evaluation Subcommittee
Subject:	Subcommittee Fee and Tax Policy Recommendations

This memorandum outlines the recommendations of the Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policy Evaluation Subcommittee (the "subcommittee") that was tasked with evaluating Metro's current solid waste fee and tax exemption policies and making recommendations on whether Metro should consider any changes to those policies. These recommendations were developed after discussions at five subcommittee meetings as detailed in the meeting summary documents provided as Attachments A through E.

Subcommittee Purpose

The purpose of the subcommittee was to determine if Metro's current solid waste fee and tax exemption policies are achieving the public benefits, goals, and objectives of the solid waste system.

Subcommittee Membership

On March 8, 2017, the Solid Waste Alternatives Advisory Committee (SWAAC) appointed the subcommittee consisting of 13 members representing industry, government, advocacy groups, and the general public. The subcommittee included the following members:

- Tim Collier, Chair (non-voting) Metro
- Terrell Garrett Greenway Recycling
- Mark Hope Tire Disposal and Recycling
- Reba Crocker City of Milwaukie
- Dave Claugus Pioneer Recycling Services
- Vern Brown Environmentally Conscious Recycling
- Matt Cusma Schnitzer Steel
- Audrey O'Brien DEQ
- Bill Carr Waste Management
- Janice Thompson Oregon Citizens' Utility Board
- Jennifer Martinez Doctoral Student, Portland State University
- Brian Heiberg Heiberg Garbage and Recycling
- Rick Winterhalter Clackamas County
- Koreen Lail Siltronic Corporation

Subcommittee Meeting Schedule

The subcommittee held five, two-hour meetings that took place on the following dates:

- May 5, 2017
- June 27, 2017
- July 25, 2017
- August 31, 2017
- October 9, 2017

Metro staff prepared a written summary of each meeting that was subsequently reviewed and approved by the subcommittee (see Attachments A through E). The subcommittee also reviewed and approved this recommendations memorandum via email in November 2017.

Subcommittee Recommendations

The subcommittee predominantly agreed to submit the following recommendations to SWAAC:

1. *Maintain status quo for exempting reused and recycled materials.* The subcommittee recommended that Metro should continue its current practice of assessing fees and taxes at the time of disposal rather than when materials are processed for recovery or recycling. The subcommittee recommended that Metro should continue to allow a fee and tax exemption for a material that is reused or recycled outside of a disposal site.

Reason for this recommendation: The subcommittee recommended status quo because it determined that Metro's current practice of assessing its fees and taxes at the time of disposal generally provides a greater incentive for material recovery which helps meet the public benefits of the region's solid waste system. The subcommittee determined that eliminating the current fee and tax exemption for reused or recycled materials would dramatically impact industry and make it cost prohibitive to recycle materials. Additionally, such a change would further impact companies that participate in global markets because they don't have the same ability to pass along added costs to customers.

2. Maintain status quo for exempting dredge spoils processed outside of the region, but Metro should further evaluate the matter and solicit input from other stakeholders. The subcommittee recommended that Metro should further evaluate its current practice of allowing a fee and tax exemption for dredge spoils that are processed outside of the Metro region for disposal. As part of that evaluation, the subcommittee recommended that Metro should solicit input from other parties that are involved with dredging projects in the region to better understand the impacts of a potential change in policy. The subcommittee recommended that Metro should maintain its current practice in the interim while the matter is under further evaluation.

Reason for this recommendation: The subcommittee recommended status quo because it determined that it did not have enough information about this matter to support an alternative recommendation.

- 3. Maintain status quo for exempting certain types of waste that are received or used at a disposal site. The subcommittee predominately recommended that Metro should maintain its current policy of allowing a "material-based" fee and tax exemption for tire processing residual that is disposed at a landfill and a "use-based" exemption for useful materials that are used productively in the operation of a landfill. The majority of the subcommittee members supported the status quo with respect to this policy. Whereas, two members recommended that Metro should consider eliminating the exemption and instead charge a fee and tax on all waste received at a disposal site. One subcommittee member abstained from making a recommendation on this matter.
 - a. Reason for the status quo recommendation: The majority of the subcommittee members recommended status quo because they determined that there was no compelling reason to justify changes in Metro's current fee and tax exemption policies with respect to certain wastes received and used at a disposal site. Additionally, these members determined that a change in status quo could potentially have unintended consequences.
 - b. Reason for the change recommendation: Two subcommittee members recommended eliminating the current exemption policy for certain wastes received and used at a landfill because they determined it does not provide incentive for the highest and best use of material. Additionally, these members determined that all such material deposited at a

disposal site is considered to be "waste" regardless of use and should be subject to Metro's fee and tax.

Background

As the agency tasked with planning and management of the region's solid waste system, Metro has an obligation to the public to ensure that its solid waste fee and tax policies are transparent, fair, and equitable and applied in an appropriate manner to cover the costs of managing the solid waste system while encouraging increased reuse, recovery, and recycling of materials.

In managing the region's solid waste system, Metro seeks to achieve the following benefits for the public:

- Protect people's health
- Protect the environment
- Get good value for the public's money
- Keep our commitment to the highest and best use of resources
- Be adaptive and responsive in managing materials
- Ensure services are available to all types of customers

In September 2015, Metro staff held a public workshop to introduce a range of proposed changes to Metro Code Title V and Chapter 7.01. These proposed changes included removing fee and tax exemptions for certain waste materials placed in a landfill. The proposed changes were revenue neutral to Metro and intended to establish predictable and transparent fee and tax determinations for all participants in the solid waste system. At that time, potentially affected parties raised a number of concerns regarding those proposed changes and the process that was used. Staff shared the feedback it received with the Metro Council at a work session in October 2015. Metro Council directed staff to implement a more rigorous process when considering potential changes to Metro Code.

At that time, Metro Council directed: 1) staff to update a previous study of Metro's fee and tax policies that was performed by URS Corporation in 2006, and 2) SWAAC to commission a subcommittee to further discuss and evaluate Metro's current exemption policies.

In September 2017, Metro hired Resource Recycling Systems (RRS) to update the URS 2006 study and evaluate Metro's fee and tax exemption policies to determine if improvements can be made to better achieve the public benefits. That evaluation also included researching similar policies in other west coast jurisdictions and soliciting input from representatives of potentially affected parties in our region to better understand their views and concerns relating to Metro's fee and tax policies.

In March 2017, SWAAC appointed a subcommittee tasked with evaluating Metro's current solid waste fee and tax exemptions and making recommendations to SWAAC on whether any policy changes should be considered. The subcommittee began meeting in May and concluded its work in November 2017.

The subcommittee received a copy of the URS 2006 report as foundational information for its consideration. The URS 2006 report entitled, *Evaluation of Disposal Trends for Environmental Clean-up and Beneficial Use Materials,* primarily recommended that Metro establish a two-tiered rate structure and eliminate its fee and tax exemptions for waste received at a disposal site. Metro subsequently implemented a pre-approval process for reduced rate and useful materials and other reporting requirement changes, but did not make any changes to its exemption policies after that study.

The subcommittee also received a copy of the final RRS report in July 2017. The RRS 2017 report was provided to the subcommittee as foundational information for its consideration. The subcommittee also had two opportunities to ask questions and provide input into the draft report before it was finalized in July. The RRS 2017 report entitled, *Evaluation of Solid Waste Fee and Tax Policies*, primarily recommended that Metro

establish a two-tiered, material-based rate structure along with continuing the current fee and tax exemption for tire processing residual and auto shredder residual when received at a disposal site.

Current Fee and Tax Exemption Policy

Metro assesses a regional system fee and excise tax on certain types of waste at the time of disposal. The regional system fee pays the costs for all associated Metro solid waste services related to management of the entire recycling, processing and disposal system. The revenue from the fee is dedicated to Metro's regional solid waste programs and services: household hazardous waste, latex paint recovery, waste reduction planning and programs (including waste reduction education), St. Johns Landfill post-closure activities, solid waste facility regulation, and illegal dumpsite monitoring and cleanup. As with the excise tax, the fee is charged at the time of waste disposal. As of July 1, 2017, the regional system fee is \$18.12 per ton.

The excise tax is a source of revenue for Metro's general government activities including the Metro Council. Excise taxes are levied on Metro's enterprise activities (including the Oregon Convention Center, Oregon Zoo, Portland Expo Center, Metro parks, and other activities), and at the time of solid waste disposal. As of July 1, 2017, the excise tax is currently \$10.81 per ton.

Metro assesses a solid waste fee and tax on waste at the time of disposal. In general, there is a three-tiered rate structure as follows:

- A. Full Rate. The full fee and tax rate, which is the combined total of both rates, is assessed on most of the region's waste at the time of its disposal (such as household garbage, construction and demolition debris, etc.). This is a material-based rate that is adjusted on an annual basis. As of July 1, 2017, the full rate is \$28.93 per ton (i.e., \$18.12 fee and \$10.81 tax).
- B. Reduced Rate. The reduced fee and tax rate, which is currently \$3.50 per ton (i.e., \$2.50 fee and \$1.00 tax), is generally assessed on contaminated "cleanup material" at the time of its disposal (such as contaminated soils, catch basin pumping, street sweepings, etc.). This is a material-based rate that is set on an annual basis. This rate amount has not changed since it was initially established by Metro in 2000.
- C. Exempt. There is a fee and tax exemption (no charge) for any material that is recovered, recycled, or diverted away from disposal sites. Under certain circumstances, Metro also allows a fee and tax exemption for certain types of waste that are sent to disposal sites (such as tire processing residual and "useful material" which includes alternative daily cover and road base used at a landfill). Metro allows both material-based and use-based exemptions for certain wastes that are received at a disposal site. Currently, Metro's material-based exemption includes only tire processing waste. Whereas, Metro's use-based exemption includes a range of materials that are used at a disposal site and accepted at no disposal charge (such auto shredder residue and shaker screen fines used as alternative daily cover).

There are three general categories of materials that currently qualify for a fee and tax exemption which include materials that are reused/recycled, dredge spoils sent to an intermediate processing facility outside of the region prior to disposal, and waste materials used at a disposal site. Waste materials may qualify for the exemption or a reduced rate based on various factors such as the generator intent, type of contaminant, or whether the waste is ultimately used at a disposal site. This can create different fee and tax rates for similar types of waste dependent on its destination and use.

Metro does not take "use" into consideration when assessing the reduced rate – rather it considers whether the waste constitutes "cleanup material" as defined in Metro Code. Cleanup material is subject to the reduced rate regardless of use (such as petroleum-contaminated soil that is used as alternative daily cover). This is different from Metro's policy of allowing a fee and tax exemption for useful material that is used productively in the operation of a landfill. As mentioned above, the useful material exemption covers a wide range of materials and uses at a disposal site. Useful material exemptions are generator and site specific and

require approval and oversight from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) or its equivalent regulatory agency. These types of exemptions are linked, in part, to oversight by other government entities and are not directly regulated by Metro.

Current Reduced Rate

The reduced rate is also referred to as the "cleanup rate" because it initially applied to "cleanup materials contaminated with hazardous substances." This type of waste is explicitly excluded from Metro's definition on "useful material" and therefore it does not qualify for a fee and tax exemption under Metro Code. Before 2000, cleanup material was subject to the full rate at time of disposal.

In 2000, Metro established the reduced rate amount of \$3.50 per ton (\$2.50 regional system fee and \$1.00 excise tax). The amount of the reduced rate had not changed since it was established in 2000, but the manner in which it is adopted each year had changed somewhat in 2014 (at that time it had changed from a credit against the full rate to a standalone rate amount).

When the reduced rate was initially established, it applied to debris resulting from a non-recurring, environmental cleanup event (such as an oil or chemical spill). At that time, the generator or disposal site would self-determine whether the reduced rate applied to a particular waste and Metro would retroactively determine whether the waste actually qualified for the reduced rate. In 2008, Metro established a pre-approval process under its designated facility agreements. In 2016, Metro amended its definition of cleanup material to focus it more on material-based qualifying factors rather than an event-based criterion.



Meeting:	Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policy Evaluation Subcommittee
Date/time:	Friday, May 5, 2017, 10 am to noon
Place:	Metro, Council Chamber
Purpose:	Common baseline understanding of solid waste system within the region and purpose and process for limited-term subcommittee work

Attendees

Terrell Garrett - Greenway Recycling Dean Kampfer (alternate for Bill Carr) – Waste Management Tim Collier – Metro Brian Heiberg – Heiberg Garbage and Recycling Mark Hope – Tire Disposal and Recycling Rick Winterhalter – Clackamas County Reba Crocker – City of Milwaukie Dave Claugus – Pioneer Recycling Services Vern Brown – Environmentally Conscious Recycling Jennifer Martinez – Doctoral Student, Portland State University Matt Cusma – Schintzer Steel Koreen Lail – Siltronic Corporation Audrey O'Brien – DEQ Janice Thompson – Oregon Citizens' Utility Board

Absent

Bill Carr – Waste Management

Presenters/Staff

Juri Freeman, RRS Jamie Zawila (via telephone), RRS Warren Johnson, Metro Kevin Six, Metro

Audience Available upon request.

Summary

Chair Collier welcomed members to the first meeting of the Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policy Evaluation Subcommittee (the "subcommittee"). He noted that the purpose of the subcommittee is to determine if Metro's current solid waste fee and tax exemption policies are achieving the public benefits, goals, and objectives of the solid waste system. He explained that the role of the subcommittee is to advise the Solid Waste Alternatives Advisory Committee (SWAAC) which in turn advises the Metro Council.

Chair Collier laid out the ground rules for the subcommittee, explained how meetings will be scheduled, and where information for the group and public will be housed (<u>www.oregonmetro.gov/wastefees</u>). Subcommittee members, staff supporting the committee, and audience members introduced themselves.

Warren Johnson gave an overview of the region's solid waste system. Mr. Johnson explained that Metro's solid waste authority is derived from both state law and Metro's charter. He then provided an overview of the public benefits that are used as a lens for the region's solid waste system. In managing the region's solid waste system, Metro seeks to achieve the following benefits for the public:

- Protect people's health
- Protect the environment
- Get good value for the public's money
- Keep our commitment to the highest and best use of resources
- Be adaptive and responsive in managing materials
- Ensure services are available to all types of customers

Mr. Johnson provided background information on the formation of the subcommittee. He noted that Metro staff had previously initiated proposed changes to Metro's solid waste code (Title V) in 2015 which included changes to Metro's fee and tax exemption policies. At that time, industry stakeholders raised a number of concerns regarding the proposed changes and the process used to develop those changes. Many stakeholders expressed concerns about the lack of transparency in Metro's code adoption process and not having adequate opportunity to provide meaningful input. At the direction of the Metro Council, staff is now going through this process with the subcommittee.

From there, Mr. Johnson introduced a study entitled, *Evaluation of Disposal Trends for Environmental Clean-up and Beneficial Use Materials,* which was conducted by URS in 2006. The purpose of the that study was to evaluate how Metro assesses fees and taxes on useful and beneficial material and the issues related to management of those waste materials. That report laid out four recommended options for Metro to consider going forward:

- Keep status quo
- Clarify Code and reporting to improve tracking (no policy change)
- Establish only reduced-rate category with no exemptions
- Eliminate the reduced-rate and exemption policy

Metro subsequently implemented a pre-approval process and some reporting requirement changes, but did not make any changes to the exemption policies at that time. As the solid waste system has evolved since that study, the Metro Council has asked staff to revisit the study and see if there are new recommendations. Metro contracted with RRS to update the 2006 and evaluate Metro's fee and tax exemption policies to determine if improvements can be made to better achieve the public benefits. The RRS study will be available as a reference guide for subcommittee to use as it considers the topic over the next few months. The subcommittee will also have an opportunity to provide additional input on the report before it's completed in July, The subcommittee will review and provide input the draft background information for the report at this meeting and subsequently provide input on draft recommendations at the June meeting. The consultant's final report will be provided to Metro and shared with the subcommittee in July.

Jennifer Martinez requested information showing the DEQ's approval process for alternative daily cover. Mr. Johnson said that information would be provided to the subcommittee at an upcoming meeting. Kevin Six then provided an overview of Metro's regional system fee and excise tax. Mr. Six explained how the fee and tax is established, what they are used for, and how they are assessed. In general, there are three categories of rates:

- Full rate,
- Reduced rate, and
- Exemption.

The fee and tax rate is assessed at time of disposal and it is generally determined by waste type or whether the materials is used or disposed.

Mark Hope requested information showing the gross receipts of Metro's solid waste fees and taxes and how those rates have changed over the years. Chair Collier said that information would be provided to the subcommittee at the next meeting.

Juri Freeman and Jamie Zawila, then presented the draft report that RRS prepared summarizing its study findings. Mr. Freeman reviewed the overall project goals, process by which they gathered information and then presented the draft research findings. The draft report did not include recommendations at the time of this meeting.

Mr. Freeman listed Metro's current fee and tax rate (through June 30, 2017), reviewed currently exempted materials, provided a brief overview of a regulatory timeline , and introduced an assessment structure for evaluating whether Metro's exemption policies are transparent, equitable and meet the public benefits. Mr. Freeman said that Metro's current code and exemption policies have challenges including the clarity of definitions, evolution of policy interpretation, determination of jurisdictional oversight and overlaps with DEQ policy/regulations, and finally the long term policy outcomes. Dave Claugus suggested that RRS should also consider how changes in fees and rate structures impact businesses. He said that the subcommittee would need to have that type of information to better understand how changes in policies would impact generators.

Mr. Freeman summarized the findings from his interviews with solid waste industry stakeholders. He explained that the report includes a summary of the interviews, but doesn't include propriety information. Ms. Zawila then explained her research of policies and practices in other jurisdictions and the findings from her interviews within government organizations within Oregon, Idaho, Washington and California. RRS conducted interviews with 10 state and local jurisdictions as part of its research.

Citizen Communications

- Jeff Murray, EFI Asked for further explanation of Metro's charter limit on excise tax expenditures
- Eric Wentland, Greenway Offered his opinion that the Metro region is too unique to be compared to other jurisdictions and municipalities for purposes of the fee and tax evaluation.

Decisions

None were made this meeting

Actions agreed upon

• Metro to provide the subcommittee with additional information on DEQ's alternative daily cover approval process at a future meeting.

- Metro to send out a doodle poll to schedule the next meeting.
- Metro to provide a 10-year history of gross receipts (3 tiers) of the fees and taxes received throughout the system.
- Metro to provide a summary of how its fees and taxes have changed over the years.
- RRS to update the state research slide (on its PowerPoint presentation slide deck) with corresponding dollar amounts.
- RRS to provide a summary of how similar the other jurisdictions are to Metro's disposal system.
- RRS will consider further explanation of proposed changes in Metro's policies will impact businesses.
- Stakeholders to provide feedback on draft report by end of day May 12th.

Upcoming Subcommittee Meeting: Tuesday June 27, 10 a.m. Metro Council Chamber



Meeting:	Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policy Subcommittee
Date/time:	Tuesday, June 27, 2017, 10 am to noon
Place:	Metro, Council Chamber
Purpose:	Develop a better understanding of waste tires and solicit input on the recommendations proposed by RRS

Attendees

Tim Collier – Metro Terrell Garrett - Greenway Recycling Brian Heiberg – Heiberg Garbage and Recycling Mark Hope – Tire Disposal and Recycling Rick Winterhalter – Clackamas County Reba Crocker – City of Milwaukie Dave Claugus – Pioneer Recycling Services Vern Brown – Environmentally Conscious Recycling Jennifer Martinez – Doctoral Student, Portland State University Matt Cusma – Schintzer Steel Koreen Lail – Siltronic Corporation Bill Carr – Waste Management

Absent

Audrey O'Brien – DEQ Janice Thompson – Oregon Citizens' Utility Board

Presenters/Staff

Juri Freeman, RRS David Stead, RRS Warren Johnson, Metro

Audience Available upon request.

Summary

Chair Collier welcomed members to the second meeting of the Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policy Evaluation Subcommittee (the "subcommittee").

Chair Collier reviewed the agenda and asked for comments or changes to the draft meeting summary from the June subcommittee meeting, there were none offered. The subcommittee agreed the summary was accurate as written.

Warren Johnson gave a brief overview of the information discussed at the previous subcommittee meeting. Mr. Johnson reviewed the purpose of the subcommittee, which is to determine if Metro's current solid waste fee and tax exemption policies are achieving the public benefits, goals, and objectives of the solid waste system. He then reviewed the public benefits that are used as a lens for the region's solid waste system. Metro seeks to achieve the following benefits for the public:

- Protect people's health
- Protect the environment
- Get good value for the public's money
- Keep our commitment to the highest and best use of resources
- Be adaptive and responsive in managing materials
- Ensure services are available to all types of customers

Mr. Johnson also provided an overview of Metro's regional system fee and excise tax. He reviewed the different components of Metro's solid waste rate, explaining how and when it is assessed. He also reviewed Metro's three-tiered rate structure and the types of waste that are typically subject to each. Mr. Johnson explained the types of materials that are currently exempt from Metro's fee and tax rate and the purpose of the current evaluation of Metro's exemption policies.

An audience member asked if Metro's fee and tax exemption for dredge spoils was dependent on whether the material was clean or contaminated. Mr. Johnson explained that Metro's fee and tax exemption for dredge spoils was determined by whether the spoils were processed inside or outside the Metro region for disposal. Under Metro's current practice, dredge spoils are not subject to Metro's fee and tax if the material is processed outside of the region for disposal.

Mark Hope provided an overview of the history of waste tire processing within the Metro region. Mr. Hope explained that Metro initially began work on a waste tire management program in the 1970s. He said the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) later passed scrap tire legislation in the 1980s – which is still in place today. The purpose of that effort was to protect the environment and control illegal dumping of tires. Around that time, Oregon funded the clean-up of abandoned tire piles around the state. The state, in cooperation with industry, had created tire regulations and a tax infrastructure (that was in place for about 4-6 years) to manage waste tires. The tax had expired since then, but the regulations remain in place. Many states have since adopted similar measures to regulate tires. The regulatory infrastructure has been a critical part of the tire program's success.

Mr. Hope said that whole tires cannot be disposed in a landfill in Oregon. He explained that tires disposed in Oregon must be shredded (and reduced in volume by 65%) in order to be disposed in a landfill. This requirement subsequently encourages reuse and reprocessing of the material instead of disposal. Whereas, this processing requirement also ensures that any tires that must go to disposal stay in the landfill. There have been many attempts at creating economic incentives for tire processors. Most processing for beneficial use has a negative cost value. The market environment for tires is much better today than it has historically been. At this point, the market is fairly stable.

Mr. Hope said that Metro and DEQ both regulate tire processors. He said that DEQ currently permits tire collection and processing activities within the state. Metro also authorizes tire processing activities within the region as well. In addition, Mr. Hope explained that his business (Tire Disposal and Recycling) operates in a multi-state environment (Washington, California and parts of Idaho). Each state has a different regulatory approach to tires and his business must comply with the regulations in each of those states. For example, he explained that California has a strict tire manifest system. Whereas, the state of Idaho regulates only tire disposal activities. In Washington , solid waste activities are regulated by the counties. Mr. Hope explained that regulations are adopted by the state of Washington, but enforced and implemented at the county-level, city local level.

Mr. Hope provided an overview of his processing facility. He explained that his business is regional in nature and requires a lot of tire throughput to be successful. Tire Disposal and Recycling receives about 20 percent of its tires from within the Metro area and about 80 from outside. There are two tire processors within the Metro region (Tire Disposal and Recycling and RB Rubber). These two facilities have enough capacity to process about seven million tires per year. Tire Disposal and Recycling looks at a much bigger footprint in terms of sourcing its tires (multi-state area).

Mr. Hope gave a brief overview of tire markets. He explained that Tire Disposal and Recycling has a variety of local, regional, and export markets. Some of the current tire markets include production of rubber products (RB Rubber), civil engineering applications, and tire-derived fuel (primarily exported to Japan and Korea). Emission standards in those countries are generally better than in the United States.

Dave Claugus asked about the pricing of material that is sold for energy markets. Mr. Hope explained that the price for tire-derived fuel is dictated by oil prices - the higher the oil price, the better the price for tire-derived fuel. Historically, coal prices have also had influence on the market.

Mathew Cusma asked what percentage of the facility's incoming tire volume actually ends being disposed a landfill? Mr. Hope said the percentage amount ebbs and flows. He said that sometimes the disposal amount can be up to 50% at times, but drop down to about 10% at other times. He said that some of the waste that is sent to a landfill may be used beneficially at the site, but otherwise it is disposed.

Juri Freeman and David Stead then presented the draft report that RRS had revised in response to the comments received from the subcommittee members at the last meeting. They also presented an overview of RRS' draft recommendations from the study. Mr. Stead began by providing an overview of RRS.

Mr. Freeman then explained the comments that were received from the subcommittee and the edits that were made to the report. He thanked the members for their contributions and said that all of the comments he received had merit (six people had submitted comments). Based on those comments, Mr. Freeman had updated the background information in the report and included more detail with respect to connection with the 2006 report. He also added more figures and tables to better explain the research that was performed by RRS. He also standardized the time period used for the analysis and updated the history/timeline outlined in the report based on comments.

Mr. Freeman explained that he had also added some additional data on comparable jurisdictions. He acknowledged that some of the comparisons were not always apples-to-apples, but he did his best to match the similarities when possible. He said that RRS could not address all of the data related questions that were raised by the subcommittee because all of the data was not available. Mr. Freeman also said that questions about legal issues could not be addressed by RRS and for purposes of the report RRS presumed that Metro had appropriate legal authority to enact the recommendations. Mr. Freeman reviewed the memo that he had prepared with detailed responses to each comment.

Mr. Freeman also explained that RRS has added an executive summary to the report for easy of reading. He explained that much of the report consists of appendices and supporting information (the body of the report is approximately 50 pages with about an additional 80 pages of appendices).

Fee and Tax Subcommittee Meeting No. 2 June 27, 2017 Page 4 of 7

Mr. Freeman outlined the policy challenges that RRS had identified during its evaluation of Metro's fee and tax policies. He summarized some of the challenges as follows:

- Insufficient clarity on definitions and policy.
- Overlap of jurisdictional responsibilities and regulatory oversight.
- Market evolution in relation to long-standing regulations sometimes at odds.
- Complex code language compared to other jurisdiction.
- Some issues identified in 2006 report haven't changed.
- More tons and more materials being exempted over time.
- Ongoing challenges with data tracking of reduce rate materials.
- Private companies maximizing use of Metro's fee and tax exemptions.
- Mixed incentives for participants in the system.

Mr. Freeman and Mr. Stead then explained the RRS' evaluation process for determining recommendations. Mr. Freeman explained that RRS considered all of the exempted material groups and developed nine different options for Metro to consider (which included status quo and new options). He explained that RRS had evaluated all of those options on a relative scale.

RRS opted to not include details on dredge materials in its recommendation table, as the material generally does not enter the region's solid waste system – therefore RRS did not recommend any significant changes to Metro's current practice of exempting dredge materials from fees and taxes when processed outside the region. Also, RRS does not recommend any changes with respect to exemptions for recyclable materials and organics that are recovered and recycled. In addition, Mr. Freeman said that RRS does not recommend any changes to Metro's exemptions for tire processing waste, auto shredder residue, and waste disposed in captive landfills.

Mr. Freeman then explained the options that RRS recommended for Metro to consider (both in Metro Code and practice) with respect to "useful materials" accepted at a landfill. He said that RRS developed an option evaluation process using five criteria (public benefit, waste reduction/diversion, industry acceptance, equitable, simple and transparent). He said that RRS internally evaluated each of the nine options using the above criteria - Metro staff was not involved in the evaluation process. Mr. Freeman said that the criteria weights were as follows: 25 percent for public benefit, 25 percent for waste reduction; 20 percent for equity; 20 percent for simple and transparent; and 10 percent in industry acceptance. He said that RRS determined those weights through its interpretation of Metro policy (via document review and discussions with Metro staff). Metro provide no input on the criteria weights or draft recommendations formulated by RRS.

Mr. Freeman and Mr. Stead reviewed the top four options recommend by RRS in its draft fee and tax evaluation report.

Two- tiered system with exemptions for tire processing residuals and auto fluff. Under this
option, Metro would establish two rates (full and reduced rates) and adopt a standing list of
materials that qualify for the reduced rate and exemption. All of the materials that are currently
receiving useful material exemptions would be subject to the reduced rate except for tire
processing residual and auto fluff (those two materials would remain exempt from fees and tax).

Benefits – This option would remove the need to verify use at a landfill. Establishing a list of materials increases clarity and continues the long-standing support of tire processes and auto processors in the region. This option also would result in most of the currently exempted materials moving to the reduced fee when delivered to a landfill. In addition, it would remove the need for secondary agency approvals.

Challenges – This option would not significantly increase waste diversion. Some generators will have increased cost

2. Limited exemptions based on material (standing list).

Benefits – This option would make the exemption system simple and would remove the need for Metro to verify use at a landfill. Similar to option #1, having a standing list of exempt materials increases clarity and continues the long-standing support of tire processes and auto processors.

Challenges – This option would increase fees for some generators and meet with strong industry resistance. Also, this option would not increase waste diversion.

3. Commodity Based Exemptions – Under this option, exemptions would be based on commodity types and values. Exemptions would be allowed by Metro if the landfill pays for the incoming materials (the generator/processor sells the material for a value above \$0.00).

Benefits – This option would drive waste diversion above the status quo. This option also would support processors who are creative and that generate a valuable material.

Challenges – This option would be difficult to administer and is a big change from the current system.

4. Status Quo with improvements – Mr. Freeman reviewed a list of recommended improvements that Metro should consider under this option. The high priority items included: codify the certain exemptions that are allowed under historical practice, better define materials, and increase decision-making transparency. The medium priority items included: review the fees charged by disposal sites (including on reduce rate materials) and establish a work group to further evaluate the use of wall board and gypsum for alternative daily cover material.

Benefits – This option would be easy to implement and it's favored by many stakeholders. The recommended improvements would increase clarity and equity while continuing the current exemption system.

Challenges – This option does not address all concerns and does not result in system improvements to drive additional waste diversion.

An audience member asked about "material type" versus "material use" in the RRS options. He said that material use should be considered as part of determining whether to assess fees and tax. Mr. Freeman responded that it was a philosophical question, but having a standing list would help increase clarity for all participants.

Mr. Freeman said that RRS recommends that Metro adopt option #1. He said that option #1 would best meet Metro's mission and benefit the environment. It would create a more transparent code and be easier to understand for new participants entering the system. The option would also establish consistent beneficial use policy for the region. RRS recommended that any resulting list of materials would need to be re-evaluated on a periodic basis.

Jennifer Martinez asked for additional information regarding the scoring mechanism that RRS used for determining its recommendations. Mr. Freeman and Mr. Stead provided an overview of how the options were scored. The scores (and criteria weights) were based on RRS' evaluation and opinion. Mr. Freeman acknowledged that there could be differences of opinions.

The subcommittee provided the following comments on the draft recommendation presented by RRS:

- Terrell Garrett said that he would like RRS to include percentages on the table shown on page two of the executive summary.
- Mr. Garrett said that one of the interviewed parties had made an incorrect statement about "ADC exemptions" being necessary to Metro's recovery requirements. He requested that the incorrect statement be removed from the report.
- Mr. Garrett said that if RRS recommends a periodic review of reduced fee materials, then it should recommend a frequency of review (the timeframe should take into account investments and rate of return).
- Mr. Garrett said that the report should clarify if the intent of the options were to address materials being placed in a landfill footprint.
- Brian Heiberg asked in Option No. 1 was intended to be revenue neutral? Mr. Freeman said yes.
- Koreen Lail asked RRS to better define what is "equitable." She asked if RRS had reviewed DEQ's process for approving the use of alternative daily cover. Mr. Freeman briefly reviewed the research that RRS had performed.
- Mr. Claugus asked for more information about the history and purpose of Metro's reduced rate. Mr. Johnson said that Metro's reduce rate is primarily assessed on "cleanup material" such as petroleum-contaminated soils and chemical spill debris. He explained that the reduced rate was originally established to help incentivize the removal of contaminated cleanup materials and ensure that the material was properly disposed. Mr. Johnson said that he would provide more information on the reduced rate at a future meeting.
- Mr. Claugus asked RRS to explain how the reduced rate would encourage diversion. Mr. Freeman said assessing the reduced rate on more materials would increase costs for some generators. Mr. Claugus said financial incentives may help something work in one area, but not in another.
- Mr. Garrett then asked about "highest and best use" of materials. He said that Metro's current reduced rate amount was not high enough to change behavior. He suggested that there should be another option that provides more incentive for people to find a use for material instead of disposal.
- Rick Winterhalter pointed out that the amount of petroleum-contaminated soil generated in the region was not specified in the report. He said that reduced rate material warranted further discussion.
- Mr. Cusma remarked that the subcommittee was having a good discussion. He also asked that the subcommittee be aware of the potential unintended consequences that could result from changes in fee and tax policies.

Citizen Communications

- Dean Large, Waste Connections Said that he appreciates the work of RRS and the subcommittee. He wonders about the scoring that RRS used for the determining the option rankings. The scoring was so close that it did not appear to support any significant changes to the current exemption system (in relation to the overall disruption to the system if Metro were to move away from the status quo). Mr. Freeman responded that the scoring was intended as a method to establish a comparative ranking of options. Mr. Large then said that he did not agree with RRS' position that that option #1 meets Metro's mission. Whereas, the status quo option could be interpreted to meet Metro's mission. In addition, Mr. Large said that he was not aware of any jurisdictional conflicts between Metro and DEQ that would prevent Metro from effectively implementing its exemption system.
- Jeff Murray, EFI Recycling Asked for clarification regarding the use of material within a landfill
 footprint and at other properties. He asked if there was a distinct difference moving forward with
 respect to fees and taxes. Mr. Johnson responded that DEQ has certain requirements for using
 materials inside and outside of a landfill. Materials that are used outside of a landfill are not
 subject to Metro's fee and tax. Mr. Murray suggested that the subcommittee could consider
 whether the amount of the reduced rate should be adjusted by Metro. For example, he said that
 the reduced rate amount could be tied to the full rate and established by a set percentage.

Decisions

None were made this meeting

Actions agreed upon

• Stakeholders to provide feedback on draft recommendation by end of day on July 7, 2017.

Upcoming Subcommittee Meeting: July 25, 2017 (Tuesday), 8 am to 10 am, Metro Council Chamber



Meeting:	Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policy Evaluation Subcommittee
Date/time:	Tuesday, July 25, 2017 8:00 am -10:00 am
Place:	Metro Regional Center. Council Chamber
Purpose:	Provide subcommittee members with an overview of the operation and regulation of landfills and review the final fee and tax policy recommendations of RRS

Attendees

Tim Collier – Metro Terrell Garrett - Greenway Recycling Brian Heiberg – Heiberg Garbage and Recycling Mark Hope – Tire Disposal and Recycling Rick Winterhalter – Clackamas County Reba Crocker – City of Milwaukie Dave Claugus – Pioneer Recycling Services Vern Brown – Environmentally Conscious Recycling Matt Cusma – Schnitzer Steel Koreen Lail – Siltronic Corporation Audrey O'Brien – DEQ Janice Thompson – Oregon Citizens' Utility Board Bill Carr – Waste Management

Absent

Jennifer Martinez – Doctoral Student, Portland State University (Participated for a portion of the meeting via teleconference)

Presenters/Staff

Warren Johnson – Metro Heather Kuoppamaki – DEQ Juri Freeman (via WebEx) – RRS

Audience Available upon request

Summary

Chair Collier welcomed members to the third meeting of the Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policy Evaluation Subcommittee (the "subcommittee").

Chair Collier reviewed the agenda and asked for comments or changes to the draft meeting summary from the June 27, 2017 meeting, there were none offered. The subcommittee agreed the summary was accurate as written.

Bill Carr provided an overview of landfill design, construction, and operations Mr. Carr explained the anatomy of modern landfills and described the construction of Columbia Ridge Landfill. The Columbia Ridge facility houses a landfill, rail yard and a gas-to-energy plant. Mr. Carr explained the technology and engineering of landfills (including the liner, leachate, and gas collection systems). He also explained how waste is generally received, managed, and placed in a landfill for disposal.

Mr. Carr said landfill operators are constantly looking for opportunities to use beneficial materials, such as alternative daily cover (ADC), instead of virgin materials if possible. He said that the use of beneficial materials is critical to landfill operations. He noted that Columbia Ridge Landfill typically uses petroleum-contaminated soil as ADC. Mr. Carr said that DEQ monitors and oversees the use of alternative materials at the landfill.

Mark Hope asked for specifics regarding what types of events or situations can complicate the use of alternative materials at a landfill. Mr. Carr noted a significant obstacle to obtaining alternative materials was the distance waste had to travel to reach the landfill. He said that local markets tend to receive the material first. For example, heavy materials such as concrete and asphalt are better suited to local disposal sites because long transport of that material is cost prohibitive. Mr. Hope asked if beneficial use materials like ADC have a positive or negative market value. Mr. Carr said that it depends on the type of waste and its use – it is generator and material specific.

Matt Cusma asked how much electricity was typically generated at the landfill through its gas collection system. Mr. Carr responded that Columbia Ridge has an output of approximately 12-13 megawatts per year. Mr. Cusma asked for specifics regarding the end-user of that electricity. Mr. Carr said that all of the power generated at the engine plant is sold to Seattle Power and Light.

Terrell Garrett asked for more information about the types of materials that are used as ADC at Columbia Ridge. Mr. Garrett also asked if beneficial materials are actually being used as reported. Mr. Carr responded that Columbia Ridge does use beneficial materials whenever possible and they are a critical component of the operation. He said that Columbia Ridge predominately uses contaminated soil for ADC.

Mr. Garrett asked if Mr. Carr felt that the DEQ's oversight was adequate to ensure that ADC was being used properly at the landfill. Mr. Carr responded yes and noted that DEQ has an approval process for ADC. He also said that DEQ routinely checks on the amounts, components, and use of ADC at the landfill. There were additional questions from Koreen Lail regarding general requirements around the use of ADC including the depth of cover and the amount that can be stored at a landfill. Mr. Carr noted that these types of requirements were generally material and site specific as approved by DEQ.

Ms. Lail asked if DEQ limits the use of ADC. Mr. Carr responded yes. He said that the amount of ADC used at a landfill was based on the amount of waste disposed. Audrey O'Brien also spoke to DEQ's oversight of ADC and reiterated that requirements are material and landfill specific. She said that DEQ limits the amount of ADC based on the amount of waste. However, a landfill can request approval to use more if it can demonstrate that there is a need. She also said that petroleum-contaminated soil has standing approval for use as ADC.

Rick Winterhalter asked about whether there is a market for ADC materials. He asked if landfills typically enter into long-term business deals for the material. Mr. Carr said that there are a few industrial sources that are routine generators, whereas other sources are one-time generators. Mr. Winterhalter asked if the landfill charges a lower rate for ADC material. Mr. Carr responded yes. Mr. Winterhalter said that although ADC may have value for the landfill, it is a discard for the generator at a lower disposal cost.

Reba Crocker inquired about reusing ADC and the process for covering waste each day. Mr. Carr said that landfills must use at least six inches of cover over the waste each day. He said that each morning

Fee and Tax Subcommittee Meeting No. 3 July 25, 2017 Page 3 of 5

the landfill operator tries to recover as much of the cover material as possible to maximize the use of air space for waste. Brian Heiberg asked if Columbia Ridge uses tarps for cover. Mr. Carr responded no. However, he said that some landfills use tarps.

Heather Kuoppamaki provided an overview of DEQ's regulatory requirements for landfills and its process for determining the use of ADC. She provided a brief overview of landfill design requirements, operating procedures, and site considerations (such as zoning, proximity to residential areas, climate, and geography). Ms. Kuoppamaki explained that landfills must have the appropriate controls in place to prevent impacts to human health and the environment. For example she explained that landfills must have liner systems, leachate and gas collection systems, environmental monitoring, financial assurance, and closure plans. Ms. Kuoppamaki also noted that DEQ performs routine inspections to monitor compliance and landfills must report information to DEQ on a routine basis (such as operational information, environmental monitoring data, waste disposal amounts, and ADC usage).

Mr. Heiberg inquired as to what is the process when DEQ finds a problem at a landfill. Ms. Kuoppamaki responded that it depends on the site and issue. She explained that DEQ considers all available information before determining a course of action. Ms. Crocker followed-up that question and asked how DEQ monitors closed landfills. Ms. O'Brien responded that landfills are required to perform post-closure monitoring for 30 years. If a problem is found during that time, DEQ would perform and investigation and require a corrective action plan. She then explained DEQ's general approach to corrective actions at closed landfills. Should a problem arise after the permit has been terminated, DEQ may require the owner to work with DEQ's cleanup program to correct the environmental concern. If there is not a responsible party to take corrective action and may use the solid waste orphan funds to address the environmental concern. Ms. Kuoppamaki noted that DEQ's permit and rules require that once a landfill closes, the landfill owner is required to file a deed notice with the local government noting that there is a closed landfill on site and identifying the type of waste placed in the landfill. Ms. O'Brien also noted that other types of illegal dumpsites are typically handled by local jurisdictions such Metro's Regional Illegal Dumping (RID) Patrol.

Ms. Kuoppamaki continued her presentation regarding DEQ's requirements for ADC. She explained that DEQ must approve ADC for use and the ADC must perform in a manner equivalent to six inches of soil. Beginning in 1993, the Legislature established a DEQ disposal fee reduction for ADC material that is used as cover. She clarified this applies only to DEQ's fee structure; it does not address other fees assessed by Metro or other governments agencies. In 2006, DEQ established an internal guidance document outlining procedures and considerations for determining the use of ADC at landfills. In 2009, DEQ established a limitation on the amount of ADC that can be used at landfills. Ms. Kuoppamaki explained that the amount of ADC used at a landfill should not be more than 10 percent of the total tons or 15 percent of the "counting waste" received at the landfill. However, Ms. O'Brien said that a landfill could potential use more ADC if it can demonstrate a need for the material.

Ms. Lail inquired as to the ability of a landfill to stockpile ADC for later use. Ms. O'Brien noted that landfills must stay within DEQ's established limits unless otherwise approved. Mr. Carr said that landfills occasionally stockpile limited amounts of ADC to make sure that there is an adequate amount of material available for use. Ms. Lail asked if the landfill would ever turn away ADC. Mr. Carr responded that it is a site specific question. However, he said that in general a landfill would only use what it needed. He said that Waste Management tries to maximize what can be used beneficially. If the landfill

Fee and Tax Subcommittee Meeting No. 3 July 25, 2017 Page 4 of 5

can't use the material immediately, it will stockpile the material for future use. If the landfill receives more material than it is authorized to use or stockpile, then the final option would be disposal.

Ms. Kuoppamaki then explained DEQ's process for evaluating the use of ADC at landfills. The landfill must apply to DEQ and submit a detailed work plan for a performance trial. The performance trial is to demonstrate how the material will function over a 12-month period. She also noted that ADC does not qualify for DEQ's fee reduction during the trial period. The landfill then submits a performance report after the trial period for DEQ evaluation and decision. Mr. Winterhalter asked for clarification as to whether ADC was fully exempt from all DEQ fees. Ms. Kuoppamaki responded that ADC is subject to a reduced DEQ fee, but it is not fully exempt from all DEQ fees.

Mr. Garrett requested an opinion from DEQ regarding who maintains the authority to determine the "best use of materials." He asked if DEQ has preexemption over beneficial use at landfills. Ms. O'Brien noted that she is not an attorney and that would be a question for Metro and Metro's attorney to sort out. He asked if the statute provides DEQ sole authority over those materials. Ms. O'Brien said that this is a legal question that Metro and Metro's attorney should address. Mr. Garrett said that DEQ should have a position on this. Ms. O'Brien said that this would be a matter for legal interpretation from Metro's attorneys or perhaps Oregon Department of Justice.

Mr. Garrett also asked if the ADC fee provisions provided in Oregon Revised Statutes applied to Metro. Ms. O'Brien said that this is a legal question for Metro to address with its attorney.

Juri Freeman presented (via WebEx) the final report that RRS had prepared for its evaluation of Metro's fee and tax exemption policies. Mr. Freeman also reviewed RRS's memo summarizing and responding to the feedback that it received from the subcommittee after the June 27 meeting. He noted that while there were points of clarification, RRS did not make any substantive changes to the final report since the last meeting. He said that RRS recommends Option 1 as its favored approach for Metro consideration. Mr. Freeman acknowledged that the scoring system used by RRS was subjective and resulted in very close scores between the top four options, but it was only one aspect of the overall evaluation criteria. RRS primarily relied on its experience, expertise and interview findings to determine its primary recommendation. Mr. Freeman encouraged the subcommittee to also consider the input and recommendations made by Dean Large and Mr. Garrett. He said that those individuals had raised valid points and their ideas should also be considered.

With respect to the comments provided by Jennifer Martinez, Mr. Freeman said that Ms. Martinez's comments had resulted in specific edits and additions to the appendix of the final report. He said that her comments had helped RRS fine-tune the report language and clarify the scoring system. The conclusion of RRS's final report is that Option 1 "best meets Metro's mission of benefiting the people and environment of the region, while simultaneously creating a code that is transparent, equitable, and easy to understand."

Mr. Garrett inquired as to the reasoning why shaker screen fines were not included in RRS's recommendation for a fee and tax exemption similar to that of tire processing residual and auto shredder residual. Mr. Freeman said that RRS made the recommendation based on its interpretation of the current market place. He said that RRS had made that recommendation in consideration of a variety of factors including the long-time exemption history for those materials and RRS's interpretation of the intent behind the initial policy. He said that there was an environmental benefit for properly managing these materials and assessing fees and taxes on the waste could impact the ability for those facilities to

Fee and Tax Subcommittee Meeting No. 3 July 25, 2017 Page 5 of 5

continue operations. Mr. Garrett explained that Greenway Recycling has also made a substantial financial investment in its operation and the same considerations should apply to his business. He said that imposing Metro's fees and taxes on shaker screen fines would impact his operation. Mr. Freeman said that it was possible for other material recovery facilities to operate without the benefit of a fee and tax exemption; however, that was not the same for tire processors and auto shredders.

Mr. Heiberg asked if shaker screen fines are exempt from Metro's fee and tax. Mr. Freeman explained that the material could qualify for an exemption if it meets the conditions provided in Metro Code. Warren Johnson said that there are currently three material recovery facilities in the region that generate shaker screen fines that qualify for an exemption (Willamette Resources, Greenway Recycling, and Suttle Road Recovery Facility).

The subcommittee discussed the impact of fees and taxes on businesses in the region. RRS said that it considered this along with other factors such as public and environmental benefits. Mr. Freeman said that in the opinion of RRS, exemptions for tire processing residual and auto shredder residual were directly related to Metro's stated practices and desired regional outcomes. Mr. Heiberg inquired as to whether the RRS report included recommendations on the amounts of the rates charged under the proposed options. Mr. Freeman responded no. He said that issue was outside the scope of work.

Mr. Garrett stated his general opposition to having different fee and tax requirements for tire processing residual and auto shredder residual. He also stated his concern that moving material (such as shaker screen fines) into the reduced rate category may put it at risk of later being assessed the full fee and tax rate. Ms. O'Brien asked if Mr. Garrett had any suggestions on criteria to add to RRS's recommended Option 1 and what was needed for a reasonable solution to the shaker screen fines concern. Mr. Garrett said that he would like to have more certainty on the rate for the material. Mr. Garrett said that he would be open to considering a reduced rate amount for ADC materials as recommended by RRS, but he would need more assurance that the rate would not change for an adequate period of time. He suggested that Metro could review the reduced rate amount and material types every five years and then provide a two-year transition period if it decided to make changes.

Chair Collier noted that the subcommittee would further discuss Metro's reduced fee and tax rate and RRS's recommendations at the August meeting.

Citizen Communications None

Decisions None

Actions agreed upon None

Next meeting

August 31, 2017, 9:00 am -11:00 am Metro Regional Center, Council Chamber

Agenda to include review of Metro's reduced fee and tax rate and further discussion of policy recommendations for the Solid Waste Alternatives Advisory Committee to consider.



Metro | *Meeting minutes*

Meeting:	Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policy Evaluation Subcommittee
Date/time:	Tuesday, August 31, 2017 9:00 am -11:00 am
Place:	Metro Regional Center. Council Chamber
Purpose:	Provide subcommittee members with an overview of Metro's reduced regional waste system fee and excise tax rate and discuss potential fee and tax policy recommendations

Attendees

Tim Collier – Metro Terrell Garrett - Greenway Recycling Mark Hope – Tire Disposal and Recycling Reba Crocker – City of Milwaukie Dave Claugus – Pioneer Recycling Services Vern Brown – Environmentally Conscious Recycling Matt Cusma – Schnitzer Steel Audrey O'Brien – DEQ Bill Carr – Waste Management Janice Thompson – Oregon Citizens' Utility Board Jennifer Martinez – Doctoral Student, Portland State University

Absent

Brian Heiberg – Heiberg Garbage and Recycling Rick Winterhalter – Clackamas County Koreen Lail – Siltronic Corporation

Presenters/Staff

Warren Johnson – Metro

Audience

Available upon request

Summary

Chair Collier welcomed members to the fourth meeting of the Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policy Evaluation Subcommittee ("the subcommittee").

Chair Collier reviewed the agenda and asked for comments or changes to the draft meeting summary from the July 25, 2017, meeting. There were none offered. The subcommittee agreed the summary was accurate as written.

Warren Johnson gave a brief overview of the information discussed at the previous subcommittee meetings. Mr. Johnson reviewed the purpose of the subcommittee, the public benefits that are to be kept at the forefront of the discussions, and Metro's current tiered fee and tax rate system (see table on the following page).

	Regional System Fee	Excise Tax
Full rate	\$18.12	\$10.81
Reduced rate	\$2.50	\$1.00
Exempt	\$0.00	\$0.00

Mr. Johnson clarified that the reduced rate is also referred to as the "cleanup rate" as it is typically assessed on waste generated from an environmental cleanup activity. He also noted that these fees and taxes are either paid to Metro directly by the hauler, generator, or remitted by the disposal site.

Mr. Johnson explained the types of materials that are currently exempt from Metro's fees and taxes which include:

- Recovered materials (reused, recycled, composted, or used as fuel)
- Inert materials used as clean fill
- Dredge spoils processed outside of the region
- Tire processing residual
- "Useful material" that is used at a disposal site such as for:
 - Alternative daily cover (ADC)
 - Road base
- Waste disposed at a "captive landfill"

He then explained that Metro had hired consultants to perform two separate evaluations of Metro's fee and tax exemption policies. He provided a brief overview of the findings from those studies and explained that the reports had been given to the subcommittee for use as foundational information. The first study was completed by URS Corporation in October 2006 and its recommended option was a twotiered rate structure with no exemptions. The second study was completed by RRS in July 2017. RRS recommended that Metro establish a two-tiered rate structure along with continuing the current fee and tax exemption for tire processing residual and auto shredder residual.

Jennifer Martinez asked for clarification regarding any updates to exemptions for hazardous waste. Mr. Johnson explained that hazardous waste is handled differently and not under the scope of work for this subcommittee. Ms. Martinez followed-up asking if there had been any noticeable changes to the use of materials at disposal sites over time. Mr. Johnson responded that Metro's current policies and practices had been in place a long time and the charge of the subcommittee is to determine whether those practices are achieving the public benefits of the region's solid waste system. Audrey O'Brien offered to forward her presentation from the July subcommittee meeting to Ms. Martinez to provide her with additional context.

Dave Claugus inquired as to where gypsum residual is classified under Metro's fee and tax rates. Mr. Johnson noted that gypsum debris is generally subject to Metro's full fee and tax rate at time of disposal. However, gypsum debris is also a typical component of shaker screen fines which can qualify for a fee and tax exemption if the material is approved and used as ADC at a landfill. Some landfills have received approval to use shaker screen fines as ADC, whereas others have not.

Mr. Johnson then presented an overview of Metro's current reduced fee and tax rate. He explained that the reduced rate had been established in 2000 and initially applied to "cleanup materials contaminated with hazardous substances." In addition, this type of waste was explicitly excluded from Metro's definition on "useful material" and therefore it could not qualify for a fee and tax exemption under Metro Code. Before 2000, Metro Code referred only to "petroleum-contaminated soil" which was subject to full fees and taxes at time of disposal.

In 2000, Metro established the reduced rate amount of \$3.50 per ton (\$2.50 regional system fee and \$1.00 excise tax). Mr. Johnson explained the amount of the reduced rate had not changed since it was established in 2000, but the manner in which it is adopted each year had changed in 2014 (at that time it had changed from a credit against the full rate to a standalone rate amount).

In 2000, the reduced rate applied to debris resulting from a non-recurring, environment cleanup event (such as an oil spill). At that time, generators and disposal sites would initially self-determine whether the reduced rate applied to their waste. Metro would then review the type of release event and nature of contamination in order to determine whether the waste actually quailed for the reduced rate. In 2008, Metro established a pre-approval process under its designated facility agreements. In 2016, Metro amended its definition of cleanup material to focus the qualifying factor more on the nature of the contaminated waste versus the type of the release event.

Ms. Martinez inquired if there was any noted fluctuation in tonnages over the years as the reduced rate was implemented. Mr. Johnson presented a graph showing the annual amount of cleanup material disposed each year and noted there was not a consistent amount from year to year. These tonnage amounts are influenced by a range of economic and environmental factors.

Mr. Claugus commented that he expected that the amount of reduced rate material would decline over time as contaminated material was removed from the environment. Mr. Johnson responded that it could be a likely scenario. Mathew Cusma commented that the amount of reduced rate material could actually remain steady or increase over time as regulations change.

Terrell Garrett inquired as to which fee and tax rate apply to catch basin materials. Mr. Johnson responded that Metro had recently amended the definition of cleanup material which became effective in February 2017. Under Metro's current definition of cleanup material, street sweepings and catch basin sediment are subject to the Metro's reduced fee and tax rate.

Mr. Cusma asked if there were any documents showing Metro Council's intent for establishing the reduced rate. Mr. Johnson responded that staff has not located any documents that show the Council's intent, but he would research it further and share his findings with the subcommittee at the next meeting. Mr. Cusma noted that contaminated soil processors located within the region had closed after Metro had implemented its reduced rate for contaminated materials in 2000. He asked if Metro's reduced rate had contributed to those processors going out of business because of cheaper disposal for contaminated waste. Mr. Johnson said that he did not know the reason why those processors had gone out of business.

Chair Collier then presented an overview of the three general categories of materials that currently qualify for a fee and tax exemption which include materials that are reused/recycled, dredge spoils sent to an intermediate processing facility outside of the region, and waste materials used at a disposal site. He noted that RRS had recommended no changes to Metro's current practices for the first two categories, but RRS recommended that Metro implement changes for waste used at a disposal site.

Mark Hope noted that, looking at the bigger picture, the solid waste system has evolved over the decades and is a fairly complex system. He stated the subcommittee's task is to evaluate the legitimacy and efficacy of the current fee and tax exemptions. What is working and what is not? He said that he had not been presented with a compelling case as to why there is a need to change Metro's current fee and tax rates or assessment policies. Chair Collier took note of his perspective on the matter.

Chair Collier then opened the floor to the committee for any discussions or comments regarding Metro's practice of assessing its fees and taxes at the time of disposal and whether it should continue to exempt material that is reused or recycled outside of a disposal site. Mr. Cusma asked where would the fees and taxes be assessed if they were not assessed at the time of disposal? Mr. Johnson said that it was not clear, but fees and taxes could be assessed at intermediate sites such as material recovery facilities or transfer stations. Mr. Johnson said that implementing that change would likely be difficult.

Mr. Claugus stated that with all of the changes in the recycling industry there has been an emerging issue of what is actually recyclable. He said that a main concern is that local jurisdictions allow certain plastics in their recycling programs which have no actual market value. He explained that those plastics then end up at a material recovery facility. If Metro were to assess fees and taxes at material recovery facilities, it would dramatically impact that industry and become cost prohibitive to recycle materials. Mr. Cusma said that changing the practice would also impact companies that participate in global markets because they don't have the same ability to pass along those added costs. Bill Carr also mentioned that end markets for recovered materials are continuing to shrink.

Mr. Claugus expressed concern that material recovery facilities were required to pay full fees and taxes for the disposal of non-recoverable materials that were allowed in residential collection programs. Ms. O'Brien noted that the same problem would likely occur no matter when the fees and taxes were assessed in the system. Mr. Claugus offered that the matter would likely be less of an issue for the facilities if municipalities excluded certain materials from their list of approved recyclable materials.

Mr. Garrett said that he did not favor assessing fees and taxes on the "front door" at material recovery facilities. He said that assessing it at that point would negatively impact recovery and decrease the incentive for recycling. He supported continuing Metro's current practice of assessing fees and taxes at the "back door" at the time waste is disposed. He said that the current practice provides greater incentive for increased recovery.

Chair Collier summarized the conversation and asked for agreement with respect to fee and tax exemptions related to reused and recycled materials. The subcommittee unanimously agreed that Metro should continue its practice of exempting recycled materials and assessing its fees and taxes at the time of disposal. The subcommittee agreed that this practice generally provides an incentive for material recovery which helps meets the public benefits of the region's solid waste system. Mr. Cusma also pointed out that recycling has benefits because it reduces the use of virgin materials, reduces the generation of greenhouse gases, and provides other economic benefits such as jobs.

Ms. Martinez asked if Metro tracks tonnage on what is recycled or reused in the region. Mr. Johnson said that recovery information is generally tracked by the state. Although Metro has access to that information and can develop a regional estimate, Metro does not directly track all recovery in the region.

Chair Collier then asked for comment on Metro's practice of exempting dredge spoils that are managed at an intermediate processing facility outside of the region. Mr. Johnson explained that the term "processing" generally referred to dewatering of the material to make it suitable for disposal in a landfill. Mr. Cusma asked if this exemption also included dredge spoils processed inside the region. Mr. Johnson responded that dredge spoils processed inside the region are subject to Metro's fees and taxes at time of disposal. Mr. Hope inquired if there was thought given to the effect of the current policy and whether it had caused dredge spoil processing operations to locate outside of the region? Mr. Johnson said that Metro is aware of at least one processing operation located outside of the region, but he did not know whether that was a result of Metro's fee and tax policy. Janice Thompson asked if staff had knowledge of the legislative intent behind this particular exemption policy? Mr. Johnson responded that he would research the matter and try to determine that information for the next meeting.

Mr. Claugus said that he did not have enough information about dredge spoils to support a recommendation other than status quo. He said that he would defer making a recommendation on the matter until he received additional information. He was curious to know why the policy regarding dredge spoils was adopted in the first place. Ms. O'Brien commented that the processing of dredge spoils is not currently happening inside the region. Mr. Carr noted that scenario might change with the upcoming cleanup of the Portland Harbor and should be considered. Ms. Thompson supported the comment and advocated for a proactive approach considering the upcoming project in the city of Portland.

Mr. Cusma pointed out that there were other operations processing dredge spoils but their material was not disposed of at a landfill so it was not on Metro's radar. He asserted these businesses are not unheard of, but are uncommon. He asked if there was a distinction between dredging for routine waterway maintenance versus a cleanup activity? Mr. Johnson said that there was no distinction under Metro's current practice or code requirements.

Chair Collier noted that the subcommittee decided to defer making a recommendation on Metro's fee and tax policy with respect to dredge spoils until the subcommittee receives additional information regarding the underlying intent behind the current policy and the potential implications that any changes might have on the way that this material is managed.

Chair Collier then called for discussion on the options proposed by RRS with respect to waste delivered to a disposal site. He reviewed the nine policy options that the consultant evaluated in its final report to Metro. He then explained that the consultant had recommended that Metro establish a two-tiered rate system for all waste delivered to disposal with a material-based exemption for tire processing waste and auto shredder waste. Chair Collier asked if the subcommittee generally agreed with any of the proposed options outlined in the consultant's report, Mr. Garrett commented that it was important for him to know the amount of the reduced rate before he could comment on the proposed options. He said that it was logical to assume that the reduced rate would increase since it hadn't changed since it was initially set, but he said that industry needs to have some period of rate certainty. He said that an annual adjustment of the rate would not provide the needed stability for his company.

Chair Collier asked if Mr. Garrett supported a review of the reduced rate on the same schedule as the proposed exemptions list. Mr. Garrett replied that if that term of review was every five years, he would accept that. Mr. Garrett then proposed the reduced rate be raised to \$5.00 per ton. Mr. Hope asked what the public benefit was and what does the proposed rate increase accomplish? Chair Collier noted that, in part, the rate initially helped pay for Metro's administrative costs which have increased more than the rate has in the last 17 years. He also noted that the rate amount is an incentive issue. Mr. Hope inquired as to whether the rate adjustment was a matter of the consumer price index (CPI)? Mr. Garrett then asked for clarification regarding which portion of the rate would be linked to CPI. Would it be the regional system fee or the excise tax? He suggested that CPI should only be considered for the system fee.

Reba Crocker agreed that everyone should have some period of rate certainty and stability, but Metro should review its rates and exemption list more frequently than every five years. She proposed that Metro should review these items on an annual basis – with an annual CPI. Mr. Hope suggested applying a CPI with a not to exceed amount (such as not to exceed "X" percentage).

Chair Collier recapped the conversation and asked for the subcommittee's position on continued exemptions for auto shredder and tire processing waste. He explained that Metro's consultant had recommended that Metro establish material-based exemptions for both materials. Mr. Garrett inquired as to whether the subcommittee agreed with continuing the exemptions for those materials. Mr. Cusma noted that while his company would benefit from Metro establishing a material-based exemption for auto shredder waste, he expressed concern about Metro moving away from its current "use-based" requirement for the exemption. He said that the use-based requirement is important because it creates a higher incentive.

Mr. Hope stated that the types of materials being discussed during the meeting were vastly different from tires. He said that the regulation of tires is unique and varies by state. Mr. Hope said that his company receives tires from a multi-state region. He said that the tires that he receives in Oregon are required to be processed before they could be sent to a disposal site. Notwithstanding the current fee and tax exemption, he said that there is more incentive for his company to recycle rather than dispose tires due to competition in the industry. Ms. O'Brien explained that DEQ requirements prohibit the disposal of whole tires in Oregon.

Mr. Claugus asked Mr. Hope if his company would be able to pass Metro's fees and taxes along to his customers if necessary? Mr. Hope responded that he could likely pass along the fee and tax to customers inside the region, but those costs would essentially drive away out-of-region customers. He said that there are not enough tires within the Metro region to sustain a tire processing business - let alone two processors. Mr. Claugus drew parallels between his material recovery facility operations and those of Mr. Hope's company. Mr. Claugus said that he did not understand the policy basis for the tire processing waste exemption. He said that allowing the exemption lowers the incentive for tire processors to invest in better recovery. He pointed out that if the goal is to increase the region's recycling and recovery rates why would the policy approaches be different for different facilities? Mr. Hope said that there is a different regulatory environment for tire processors versus material recovery facilities. He pointed out that the hauling and facility requirements for those types of operations are very different.

Chair Collier noted that a few proposals and recommendations were mentioned but there was no clear consensus from the subcommittee. Mr. Hope reiterated his need for a compelling reason for the subcommittee to make a change. Mr. Cusma stated that status quo should also be considered as an option.

Chair Collier recapped the meeting stating that the subcommittee had agreed that Metro should continue to assess its fees and taxes at the time of disposal. However, the subcommittee needed more information and time to discuss fee and tax policy for dredge spoils and waste materials used at a disposal site.

Public Comments

Public comments were offered by Jeff Murray from EFI. Mr. Murray asked for clarification as to whether the proposed policy changes being discussed by the subcommittee were revenue neutral for Metro. Chair Collier said that the proposed changes would be revenue neutral.

Mr. Murray also asked if more materials were added to an exemptions list would that bring the cost of disposal down? He said that reducing disposal fees also reduces the incentive for recovery. Chair Collier responded that disposal costs could decrease in that instance, but that would depend on the amount of exempted material. Mr. Murray commented that the cost of recycling in the industry is increasing

Fee and Tax Subcommittee Meeting No. 4 August 31, 2017 Page 7 of 7

rapidly and the costs of recovery versus disposal are becoming closer. He emphatically noted that Metro's exemption for recycling is key for the system to work.

Decisions

None.

Actions agreed upon

The subcommittee unanimously agreed that Metro should continue its practice of assessing its fees and taxes at the time of disposal and should continue exempting reused and recycled materials.

Next meeting

October 9, 2017 2:00PM-4:00PM Metro Regional Center, Council Chamber

Agenda to include further discussion of policy recommendations for the Solid Waste Alternatives Advisory Committee to consider.



Meeting minutes

Meeting:	Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policy Evaluation Subcommittee
Date/time:	Monday, October 9, 2017, 2:00 pm - 4:00 pm
Place:	Metro Regional Center, Council Chamber
Purpose:	Discuss potential fee and tax policy recommendations
Outcome(s):	Formulate draft policy recommendations of the subcommittee

Attendees

Tim Collier – Metro Terrell Garrett - Greenway Recycling Mark Hope – Tire Disposal and Recycling Reba Crocker – City of Milwaukie Dave Claugus – Pioneer Recycling Services Vern Brown – Environmentally Conscious Recycling Matt Cusma – Schnitzer Steel Audrey O'Brien – DEQ Bill Carr – Waste Management Jennifer Martinez – Doctoral Student, Portland State University Rick Winterhalter – Clackamas County Koreen Lail – Siltronic Corporation

Absent

Brian Heiberg – Heiberg Garbage and Recycling Janice Thompson – Oregon Citizens' Utility Board

Presenters/Staff

Warren Johnson – Metro

Audience

Available upon request

Summary

Chair Collier welcomed members to the fifth meeting of the Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policy Evaluation Subcommittee (the "subcommittee").

Chair Collier reviewed the agenda and asked for comments or changes to the draft meeting summary from the August 31, 2017, meeting. Matt Cusma requested that a correction be made to a statement that was attributed to him in paragraph four on page six of the draft meeting summary. Mr. Cusma clarified that during the last meeting, he had said that the subcommittee should also consider status quo as a potential policy option. Chair Collier said that the meeting summary would be revised to reflect his clarification. There were no other comments or proposed changes to the draft meeting summary. The subcommittee agreed that the remainder of the summary was accurate as written.

Chair Collier informed the subcommittee that the desired outcome of this meeting was to discuss potential policy options and determine the recommendations that the subcommittee will make to the Solid Waste Alternatives Advisory Committee (SWAAC). He said that he hoped that the subcommittee could unanimously agree on a set of recommendations, but full agreement was not necessary. Chair Collier said that this would be the last in-person meeting of the subcommittee if it reaches some form of consensus on recommendations for SWAAC. In that instance, staff would draft a summary of the subcommittee's recommendations and then provide it to the members for their final review and approval via email. Chair Collier said that the subcommittee would then conclude its work once the membership approves of the final summary recommendation.

Chair Collier explained that the subcommittee's final recommendations and the policy evaluation report prepared by RRS will be provided to SWAAC for its consideration. SWAAC will then determine whether to make a recommendation and will provide guidance on which options to bring to Metro Council. Staff will inform Council of SWAAC's recommended options along with the findings of the subcommittee and the consultant's report and seek direction on next steps.

Warren Johnson reminded the subcommittee of the three general categories of materials that currently qualify for a fee and tax exemption which include materials that are reused/recycled, dredge spoils sent to an intermediate processing facility outside of the region, and waste materials used at a disposal site.

Mr. Johnson explained that the subcommittee had agreed at its previous meeting (August 31) that Metro should continue its practice of assessing its fees and taxes at the time of disposal and should continue its exemption for reused and recycled materials that are not sent to a disposal site. He also said that the subcommittee had previously requested more information about the policy intent behind Metro's current exemption for dredge spoils that are processed outside of the region for disposal, The subcommittee had asked for an explanation about why there was a distinction between in-region and out-of-region processing.

Mr. Johnson said that he was unable to find the requested information for the subcommittee. He suggested that Metro could further evaluate the matter outside of the subcommittee with input from other parties that are directly involved with dredging projects. He said that input from those parties might better inform Metro council as to how to proceed. Several subcommittee members indicated their support for that suggestion. The subcommittee generally agreed that Metro should continue to evaluate the matter and solicit input from parties involved with dredging projects. In the interim, the subcommittee recommended that Metro maintain the status quo with respect to its exemption for dredge spoils processed outside of the region.

Chair Collier stated the main topic of the current meeting was to determine the subcommittee's final recommendations with respect to the fees and taxes assessed on waste that is used or disposed at a disposal site. He also reminded the subcommittee of the public benefits that are to be kept in mind when considering options for Metro's solid waste policies. These public benefits are:

- Protect people's health
- Protect the environment
- Get good value for the public's money
- Keep our commitment to the highest and best use of resources
- Be adaptable and responsive in managing materials
- Ensure services are available to all types of customers

Chair Collier also explained to the subcommittee that Metro seeks to implement policy that is:

- Achieving the public benefits
- Easy to understand
- Resilient and adaptive
- Transparent and predictable
- Fair and equitable

Mr. Johnson provided an overview of Metro's current fee and tax rate structure and the types of materials that currently qualify for exemption. The current system has a three-tiered rate structure which is assessed on waste at the time of disposal. Metro's full rate is a "material-based" rate that is assessed on all waste at time of disposal (excluding waste that is subject to the reduced rate or exemption). The full rate amount (currently \$28.93) is adjusted on an annual basis. Metro's reduced rate is a material-based rate that is generally assessed on cleanup material. The reduced rate amount (\$3.50) has not changed since it was established by Metro in 2000. Finally, Metro allows both material-based and "use-based" exemptions for certain waste materials that are received at a disposal site. Currently, Metro's material-based exemption includes only tire processing waste. Whereas, Metro's use-based exemptions include a range of materials such auto shredder residue, shaker screen fines, asphalt shingles, glass, etc.

Mr. Johnson explained that Metro does not take *use* into consideration when assessing its reduced rate – rather it considers whether the waste constitutes "cleanup material" as defined in Metro Code. This is different from Metro's policy of allowing a fee and tax exemption for "useful material" that is used productively in the operation of a landfill. The *useful material* exemption covers a wide range of materials and uses at a disposal site. These types of exemptions are generator and site specific uses that require approval and oversight from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) or its equivalent regulatory agency. These types of exemptions are linked, in part, to oversight by other government entities.

Reba Crocker asked why exemptions are allowed for waste materials that are deposited at a landfill (whether used or not)? She said that depositing waste in a landfill is not the highest and best use of material. Bill Carr responded that landfills try to use waste for alternative daily cover (ADC) or road base whenever possible because it avoids the need to purchase virgin materials and replaces the use of natural resources to accomplish operational objectives. Ms. Crocker said that she believed that there should be some type of rate assessed on all waste sent to a landfill. She said that waste sent to a landfill should not be exempt from all fees and taxes.

Terrell Garrett noted that if there is no economic incentive for the generator, then there is no reason to produce the material. He said that the approval process that Greenway went through to obtain its current useful material exemption for shaker screen fines was a long-term, costly process that involved both DEQ and Metro. He explained that he had to make significant financial investment to obtain the exemption that his company currently receives. Mr. Garrett said that if the current reduced rate amount was assessed on useful material, it would likely not impact the generation of shaker screen fines at Greenway. However, he said that if the cost differential increased too much it would not be economically viable for his business to continue generating shaker screen fines. Mr. Garrett also explained that in some instances, auto shredder residual is mixed with soil or shaker screen fines when used as ADC. He said that such cases show that those materials are used in the same manner and should be treated the same from an exemption or fee and tax policy perspective.

Mr. Cusma noted that some landfills don't have a ready supply of cover soil available to use for daily operations. He said that some landfills may sell their soil or use it for other purposes on site which is a reason why alternative materials are needed. Ms. Crocker said that she understood the benefit of using waste materials on site when possible, but she still would support a reduced rate for such materials. Audrey O'Brien noted that regardless of whether materials are used as ADC or simply disposed at a landfill they are all considered to be waste.

Mr. Cusma said that the subcommittee should be aware that policy changes could potentially have longterm, unforeseen impacts of recovery and recycling efforts in the region. For example, he said that if recycling facilities are forced to accept material where there is no viable recycling market and they are charged additional disposal fees, then it could result with recyclers going out of business. Mr. Cusma added that assessing fees and taxes on auto shredder residual would be a huge cost for his company. He said that his company operates in an international market and it cannot pass along those costs in that market. He also explained that his company could not pass along the costs to its local customers because there is too much competition for scrap metal and it would impact pricing. Mr. Cusma said this is one area where the unintended consequences of a policy recommendation would be impossible to know and potentially have a large impact.

Ms. O'Brien said that auto shredder residual that is used as ADC is not subject to the same disposal costs as other waste from the Metro region. Mr. Cusma responded that shredder residual used as ADC has a cost, but it is a lower cost because the material is used. Rick Winterhalter noted that he had general concerns about whether it is appropriate to allow a fee and tax exemption for waste received at a landfill regardless of its use. Mr. Winterhalter noted that landfills already provide incentive for customers by charging lower disposal cost for materials that can be used, so it was hard to understand why exemptions or lower fees and taxes were needed. Mr. Garrett responded that the reduced landfill cost is not enough to incentivize recycling businesses and the Metro exemption is necessary for the businesses to be viable.

Mr. Johnson clarified that in order for a material to qualify for a useful material exemption; it must be used productively in the operation of a landfill and be accepted at no disposal charge. He provided an example of excess ADC. Material that is used as ADC and applied to the working face at the end of an operating day could qualify for an exemption. Whereas, if the same material was deposited at the disposal area during the day, the material would be subject to the full fee and tax rate. Ms. Crocker inquired as to how those activities and transactions are tracked. Mr. Johnson said that Metro relies on the disposal site to report that information and DEQ to monitor its use. Mr. Carr explained that ADC storage areas are often used at landfills for staging purposes. He said that landfills typically do not store more material than can be used in a short timeframe. Ms. O'Brien added that DEQ monitors ADC usage at landfills in Oregon. Jennifer Martinez asked if there are limits on the amount of material that can be stockpiled on site. Ms. O'Brien responded that it is dependent on the landfill and its capacity.

Mr. Garrett asked Ms. O'Brien if she felt that DEQ was doing an adequate job of tracking and overseeing the use of ADC at landfills. She responded that DEQ has had some difficulties in the past, but it has improved its monitoring procedures in recent years. She also explained that landfills must remit quarterly reports to DEQ showing the amount of ADC materials they receive and use.

Mark Hope spoke to how he views Metro's public benefits being reflected in the current fee and tax exemption policies. He explained that one of the most important public benefits of Metro's current exemption policies is that they have helped establish and maintain a strong recovery and recycling infrastructure in the region. He said that the current exemptions policies are necessary to maintain stability.

Chair Collier and Mr. Johnson presented a list of potential policy options that had been discussed by the subcommittee during the past meetings. Potential options included:

- Maintain status quo.
- Establish a material-based rate system with explicit exemptions for tire processing residual and auto shredder residual.
- Establish a two-tiered rate system for all waste.
- Assess fees and taxes on waste that is received at a disposal site.
- Increase reduced rate amount with future CPI adjustments.
- Establish a standing list of materials that qualify for a reduced rate.
- Establish periodic review process for a standing list of materials with a phase-in period for any changes (for example three-year review period with a two-year phase-in).

Ms. Martinez asked what impacts might occur if Metro moved to a material-based rate? Mr. Carr responded that his company would continue to use alternative materials for landfill operations whenever possible in order to minimize costs and avoid using virgin materials. He said that if Metro were to assess its fees and taxes on useful materials, then the majority of the economic impact would likely fall on the generators of the material. Mr. Cusma said that it is hard to know the full repercussions of such policy changes because of the dynamics of the industry. He pointed out that some landfills have constraints in the amount of material that can be used for ADC which impacts the movement of materials.

Dave Claugus added that lowering fees on disposal generally reduces the incentive to recover materials. The current cost savings between disposal and recovery justifies the expense of investment in new equipment, but if that were to change there would be unintended impacts across the industry. He expressed concern about how policy changes could impact the investments already made by current participants in the system. Mr. Claugus reminded the subcommittee that it should keep this in mind as well. Koreen Lail noted that her company is always seeking the best option for managing its filter press cake. Ms. Lail said that her company would prefer to find other uses for the filter cake rather than use as ADC; however, there are no other options available at this time. She also pointed out that adding new fees and taxes could potentially have impacts on other aspects of a business such as increased operational costs and job loss.

Mr. Winterhalter asked for clarification whether the proposed two-tiered rate option that was raised would include the currently exempted and reduced rate materials. Mr. Johnson said that was his understanding based on the subcommittee's discussion. Mr. Garrett said that clean fill should also be listed as an exempt material.

Mr. Garret said that he feels that the Metro Council is seeking some type of change with respect to Metro's fee and tax policies. He said that he would rather participate in the discussion and seek a collective solution rather than having policy change without industry input. Mr. Hope noted that he is still searching for the reason that change is necessary. He said that he believes that Metro staff and Metro Council are neutral on the subject, but if that is incorrect it needs to be stated. Mr. Garrett noted that Metro's past actions on this topic have made him nervous about a potential change in policy. Chair Collier said that Metro Council has not stated a preference on this issue. He reminded the subcommittee of the purpose of this subcommittee and how it was formed. He said that Metro Council had directed staff to further evaluate the matter and report back with its findings. Mr. Claugus echoed Mr. Hope's opinion that he saw no compelling need for a change in current policies.

Chair Collier stated that one area that needs to be considered by the subcommittee is whether the current policies are transparent, easy to understand and predictable. He also raised the question whether the subcommittee thought that the status quo was fair and equitable throughout the system. Chair Collier posed the question whether there was a compelling reason to maintain status quo?

Mr. Garrett said that if there is a charge assessed on one type of material, then the same charge should be assessed on all materials that are used in the same manner. Mr. Hope reiterated that infrastructure is necessary to support behavior change and the overall benefits for the greater good need to be considered.

Ms. Crocker stated that she saw a need to implement changes in Metro's current fee and tax assessment policies because they are not easy to understand. She expressed concerns about the ability of the general public to understand the complexity of the topic. She also raised concerns around the overall transparency of the practices.

Ms. Martinez shared that she does not feel the existing exemptions are wrong, but the application of reduced rates does not seem clear. She would like to see more standardization for the sake of stability.

Mr. Cusma acknowledged the concerns regarding transparency and clarity, but he cautioned against moving away from a use-based exemption. He said that even though a material-based exemption might benefit his company, he said that it is would not be a good policy because it does not provide an incentive to find a use for material.

Mr. Winterhalter stated that he would support a standing list of materials that are subject to a reduced rate when they have an established use. He said that there should also be an opportunity to add or remove materials from the list as circumstances change.

Chair Collier announced a short break in the meeting and informed the subcommittee that when it reconvened he would ask the members to state their position with respect to potential recommendations.

After the break, Chair Collier asked each member to state his or her position on a subcommittee recommendation for Metro's fee and tax assessment policies with respect to waste received at disposal sites. The members' responses were as follows:

- Vern Brown, Environmentally Conscious Recycling: Stated support for status quo.
- Jennifer Martinez, PhD student: Stated support for status quo. She said that she would like Metro to explore a material-based list.
- Bill Carr, Waste Management: Stated support for status quo. He said that he did not see a compelling need for change.
- Reba Crocker, City of Milwaukie: Stated support for a change in the current policy. She said that the status quo is not transparent or easy to understand.
- Dave Claugus, Pioneer Recycling: Stated support for status quo.
- Rick Winterhalter, Clackamas County: Stated support for a change in the current policies. He said that he would like to see a system without exemptions but recognizes that industry has already invested in the current system and any changes would need a phase-in period. Mr. Winterhalter said that we should look at this from a system perspective.

- Audrey O'Brien, Oregon DEQ: Abstained. DEQ does not have a formal position on the topic.
- Mathew Cusma, Schnitzer Steel: Stated support for status quo. He also reiterated his concerns about removing the use-based criteria for exemptions.
- Koreen Lail, Siltronic Corporation: Stated support for status quo. She also said that it would be helpful to provide more clarification about how Metro implements its exemption policies.
- Mark Hope, Tire Disposal & Recycling: Stated support for status quo.
- Terrell Garrett, Greenway Recycling: Stated support for status quo. He said Metro's solid waste system is a unique system; it works well despite its problems. He noted that the rate system is difficult to understand and it would be helpful to have greater clarification on how to obtain a use-based exemption. He suggested that Metro could develop administrative rules to explain its exemption process.

Chair Collier noted all of the responses and explained that Metro staff will draft a summary of the meeting and document the subcommittee's strong preference for the status quo recommendation. He also noted that the subcommittee had recommended establishing an administrative rule to provide greater clarity on how current policies are implemented.

Ms. Martinez asked whether Metro could establish administrative rules to better align with or reflect DEQ rules? Mr. Garrett said that it would be helpful for Metro to outline its reduced rate and exemption policy.

Chair Collier stated that Mr. Winterhalter will present a brief update to SWAAC at its next meeting on October 11. He also explained that Metro staff intends to provide a formal presentation to SWAAC in November to report the findings of the subcommittee and the consultant's study. Staff's presentation will include the subcommittee meeting summary notes, consultant's report and the subcommittee's final recommendations. The October meeting summary and subcommittee's recommendations will be sent to the members via email for approval prior to the formal presentation to SWAAC.

Chair Collier reminded the subcommittee that staff will email a draft summary of the recommendations to the members for their input and final approval. Mr. Cusma asked that all of the subcommittee members "reply all" when commenting on the documents so that each member knows what changes are requested.

Mr. Hope offered his thanks to Metro for convening this subcommittee and taking input from multiple stakeholders. He said that he appreciated the process.

Chair Collier ending the meeting.

Decisions

The subcommittee decided that this would be its final in-person meeting. Metro staff will prepare a draft meeting summary and recommendations document that will be emailed to the subcommittee members for review and approval prior to finalization. The subcommittee will conclude its work once the documents have been finalized.

The final recommendations document and consultant's final report will be presented to SWAAC for consideration.

Actions agreed upon

- 1. The subcommittee members that were present agreed that Metro should further evaluate its practice of allowing a fee and tax exemption for dredge spoils that are processed outside of the region. The subcommittee recommended that Metro should solicit input from parties involved with dredging projects. In the interim, the subcommittee recommended that Metro maintain the status quo with respect to its exemption for dredge spoils processed outside of the region.
- Eight members of the subcommittee recommended that Metro maintain the status quo with regard to its current fee and tax exemption policies for waste received and used at a landfill. Two members recommended that Metro should consider a change in its current policies and should assess a fee and tax on all waste that is received at a disposal site. One member of the subcommittee abstained.

Next meeting

None



Recommendations on Metro's Solid Waste Fee and Tax Exemption Policies

Solid Waste Alternatives Advisory Committee December 13, 2017

Purpose of Today's Discussion

- 1. Review Metro's current fee and tax exemption policies.
- 2. Review policy recommendations from Metro's consultant.
- 3. Review policy recommendations from SWAAC's subcommittee.
- 4. Solicit SWACC's input on the recommendations.

Metro Code Title V

Track 1: MRF/CT

- Complete
- Council adopted on 10/26/17
- Effective on 01/24/18



Track 2: Fee/Tax Exemption Policy

- Policy study update in July 2017
- Subcommittee review completed in November 2017
- SWAAC discussion today
- Metro Council work session in early 2018

Track 3: General Code Changes

- Complete
- Council adopted on 11/10/16
- Effective on 02/08/17



Fee and Tax Timeline

October 2015	Metro Council directs staff to update fee and tax study and SWAAC to commission a subcommittee
September 2016	Metro hires RRS to perform study
March 2017	SWAAC commissions subcommittee
July 2017	RRS completes fee and tax report and final recommendations
November 2017	Subcommittee concludes work and final recommendations

Public benefits

- Protect people's health
- Protect the environment
- Get good value for the public's money
- Keep our commitment to the highest and best use of resources
- Be adaptable and responsive in managing materials
- Ensure services are available to all types of customers

Regional System Fee

- \$18.12 per ton (FY 17/18)
- Metro Code Chapter 5.02
- Established in FY 87/88
- Funds Metro's solid waste system costs
- Assessed at time of disposal
- Calculated annually
- System costs (budget) / forecasted tonnage

Excise Tax

- \$10.81 per ton (FY 17/18)
- Metro Code Chapter 7.01
- Established in 1990
- Funds Metro's general government activities
- Tax for the privilege of using the regional system
- Assessed at time of disposal
- Calculated annually
- Statutory amount / prior year tonnage

Tiered Fee and Tax Rate

	Regional System Fee	Excise Tax
Full Rate (\$28.93/ton)	\$18.12	\$10.81
Reduced Rate (\$3.50/ton)	\$2.50	\$1.00
Exempt	\$0.00	\$0.00

Reduced Rate

- Established in 2000
- Applies to "cleanup material"
- Reduced rate amount is \$3.50 per ton
 - Regional system fee (\$2.50 per ton)
 - Excise tax (\$1.00 per ton)
 - Rate has not changed
 - Adopted annually
- Pre-approval needed for some materials
- Assessed at time of disposal

Exemption Categories

- Reuse/Recycling
 - Materials recycled or used outside of a disposal site (source-separated recyclables, composting feedstock, etc.)
 - Inert waste used for fill
- Intermediate Processing
 - Dredge spoils processed outside of the region
- Disposal Site
 - Tire processing waste
 - "Useful material" (alternative daily cover, road base, etc.)
 - Captive landfills

URS Fee and Tax Study – 2006

- Evaluation of Disposal Trends for Environmental Clean-up and Beneficial Use Materials by URS Corporation in October 2006
- Evaluate issues related to the management of reduced-rate and exempt waste
- Recommended options from the study:
 - Keep status quo
 - Clarify Code and reporting to improve tracking (no policy change)
 - Establish two-tiered rate system (full and reduced-rate categories)
 - Eliminate the reduced-rate and exemption policy
- Implemented pre-approval process and reporting changes

RRS Fee and Tax Study – 2017

- Evaluation of Solid Waste Fee and Tax Policies by RRS in July 2017
- Update 2006 report, perform interviews and research, and make recommendations for improvement
- Evaluated nine potential policy options
- Top four recommended options from the study:
 - <u>Two-tiered rate system with exemption for tire processing and auto</u> <u>shredder waste</u>
 - Material-based exemption (standing list)
 - Commodity-based exemption
 - Status quo

SWAAC Subcommittee

- Appointed by SWAAC in March 2017
- Five meetings from May to October 2017
- 13 members
- Purpose to determine if Metro's current solid waste fee and tax exemption policies are achieving the public benefits, goals, and objectives of the solid waste system

Policy Objectives

- Achieve the public benefits
- Easy to understand
- Resilient and adaptive
- Transparent and predictable
- Fair and equitable

Subcommittee Membership

- Tim Collier, Chair (Metro)
- Terrell Garrett (Greenway)
- Vern Brown (ECR)
- Mark Hope (Tire Disposal)
- Mat Cusma (Schnitzer Steel)
- Koreen Lail (Siltronic Corporation)
- Dave Claugus (Pioneer Recycling)

- Bill Carr (Waste Management)
- Brian Heiberg (Heiberg Garbage)
- Rick Winterhalter* (Clackamas County)
- Reba Crocker* (City of Milwaukie)
- Audrey O'Brien* (DEQ)
- Janice Thompson (Oregon CUB)
- Jennifer Martinez (Doctoral student)

* SWAAC member

Subcommittee Recommendations

- 1. Status quo for exempting reused and recycled materials
- Status quo for exempting dredge spoils processed outside of the region, but should be further evaluated
- 3. Majority supported status quo for exempting tire processing waste and useful materials
- 4. Minority supported eliminating exemptions for all waste received at a disposal site

Questions for SWAAC

- 1. Does SWAAC have any comments or questions on the findings of Metro's consultant or the subcommittee?
- 2. Does SWAAC have any other input or recommendations to convey to Metro Council?



Event sign-in

Solid Waste Alternatives Advisory Committee 600 NE Grand Ave, Portland, OR 97232 Wednesday, December 13 10:00 a.m to 12:00 p.m.

Name <u>MarkoHenad</u>	Address
Phone <u>CitzoGWilsonville</u>	City, State, ZIP
E-mail	Yes, please add me to this project's mailing list.
Name Phone E-mail	City, State, ZIP
Name <u>Kristin Leichner</u>	Address
Phone <u>Prick Pisposal</u>	City, State, ZIP
E-mail	Yes, please add me to this project's mailing list.
Name Die Speries Phone Depublic Services E-mail	City, State, ZIP
Name <u>SLOTT</u> FARUIM	Address
Phone	City, State, ZIP
E-mail	Yes, please add me to this project's mailing list.



Event sign-in

Solid Waste Alternatives Advisory Committee 600 NE Grand Ave, Portland, OR 97232 Wednesday, December 13 10:00 a.m to 12:00 p.m.

Name <u>MANK Hop</u> Phone <u>503-240-1819</u> E-mail <u>MarkerFredigosal-rec</u>	City State 7IP
Name MAT CUSMA Phone	Address_SCHNITEBN
E-mail	
Name <u>Bethlewas Durcan</u> Phone E-mail_bethvde_arra,vef	AddressAddress City, State, ZIP Yes, please add me to this project's mailing list.
Name John Desmirtcan Phone 971-241-3717 E-mail Desmirtcur Dogityx.cm	T ()
Name	Address
Phone	City, State, ZIP
E-mail	Yes, please add me to this project's mailing list.

Per state law, information submitted on this sheet is public record and is available to those who request it.